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corporAte stAtement

Xaar plc is the world-leading independent supplier of industrial 
inkjet printheads.

The economic turmoil of the last twelve months 
has presented Xaar with challenging trading 
conditions. Through restructuring and cost-saving 
measures we have been able to strengthen 
our business and position ourselves to take 
advantage of the market upturn.

our pAst yeAr – some exAmples…

Xaar launches two next generation 
printheads to set new standards in 
wide and grand-format inkjet printing.

11 March 2009
Xaar, a world leader in the development 
and manufacture of drop-on-demand 
inkjet technologies, has launched two 
new printheads which bring significant 
performance benefits to the wide and 
grand-format inkjet print markets. The new 
entry-level, high-speed Xaar Electron and 
the premium high-productivity, wide-swathe 
Xaar Proton are next-generation Platform 1 
binary printheads.

Xaar has worked closely with several leading 
printer manufacturers in order to coincide the 
global launch of the new printheads with the 
commercial launch of next generation wide-format 
printers incorporating the technology. In a 
significant endorsement of the productivity 
of the new printheads, Witcolor, Hijet, Chiting 
Digital Technology and RTZ are launching 
five Xaar Electron-based models and twelve 
Xaar Proton-based solvent and UV inkjet 
models at Sign China.

Xaar expands range of Ceramic 
Inks through new Esmalglass-Itaca 
partnership.

8 April 2009
Esmalglass-Itaca Group has been added to 
Xaar’s list of Approved Ink Partners for the 
ceramic inks market. 

Esmalglass-Itaca is internationally recognised 
as a pioneer in the areas of ceramic pigments, 
glazes, frits and additives. They have a reputation 
for unmatched collaboration with each and 
every one of its customers and superb know-how 
in the formulation of digital ceramic inks. This 
makes Esmalglass-Itaca the perfect partner for 
Xaar to increase the choice of digital inks available 
for end users in this growing market sector.
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Xaar Inkjet technology drives 
innovation at FESPA 09. 

14 April 2009
Xaar, leading independent printhead 
manufacturer and FESPA Global Technology 
Partner, shows its full range of binary and 
greyscale inkjet printheads at FESPA 
Digital in May (Stand M80), including the 
European debut of two new next generation 
binary printheads.

Market interest in Xaar’s ground-breaking 
greyscale printheads is huge and manufacturers 
have quickly developed leading edge printers 
to maximise their capabilities. This is demonstrated 
in the high number of new Xaar-enabled printers 
being shown at FESPA Digital this year. Several 
of these machines are making their global 
debut at the show.

The number of Xaar Approved Ink Partners at 
the show is an endorsement to Xaar’s open ink 
policy and is Xaar’s way of ensuring the widest 
range of choice for its printhead users.

Xaar continues to demonstrate its 
leadership in digital inkjet technology 
at Labelexpo Europe 2009.

22 July 2009
Xaar, as the leader in digital inkjet 
technology, had a huge impact at last 
year’s Labelexpo and this year, the 
impact looks to be even bigger. Over ten 
Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) 
will be supporting Xaar’s ‘Think Digital, 
Think Inkjet, Think Xaar!’ theme by 
demonstrating Xaar-enabled printers 
that clearly show the power and flexibility 
of inkjet and its impact in digital print.

The increased number of Xaar-based inkjet 
printers showing at this year’s Labelexpo 
is a strong signal that inkjet can be both 
complementary and competitive to the 
existing technologies.

Xaar showcases Proton and Electron 
at FESPA India. 

17 November 2009
Xaar demonstrates the power of its 
two latest printheads targeted at the 
wide-format graphics sector at FESPA India 
(Delhi, 7–9 December 2009). By supporting 
this show, Xaar is not only demonstrating 
its strong ties to FESPA as their Global 
Technology Partner, but is also reaffirming 
its leadership position in the wide-format 
graphics sector.
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direCtors’ report
Chairman’s statement

The board remains convinced that Xaar 
has the right products and has matured in 
its understanding of what it takes to make 
the new technology a success for our 
OEM customers. We remain profitable, 
cash generative and financially strong.

introduCtion
Just over a year ago, when looking 
ahead to 2009, it was clear that the 
global economic environment would 
present continuing trading difficulties 
for those in the printing industry and 
we set our financial goals accordingly. 
I am pleased to report that these goals 
were achieved against a backdrop 
of continuing disappointing financial 
results from across the global printing 
industry. The group continues to be 
profitable on an adjusted profit basis, 
cash generative and financially strong.

Business trends
Overall our leadership position 
with a ‘disruptive technology’ has 
enabled us to ride the economic 
downturn, helped by the fact that 
a significant portion of our business 
comes from Asia, specifically China, 
where internal economies have 
flourished. Internally, the restructuring 
programme implemented in 2008 has 
delivered the efficiencies expected 
and contributed significantly to our 
current financial position.

Despite these ‘positives’ we are 
frustrated that our performance was 
not better. On the one hand, we are 
pleased that our new Platform 3 (P3) 
technologies and products are opening 

substantial new commercial 
opportunities in a range of printing 
applications. On the other hand, 
as set out below in the Review of 
Operations, the level of activity and 
costs associated with finalising the 
performance and quality of our 
products for multiple applications, 
whilst assisting our original equipment 
manufacturer (OEM) customers 
in commercialising their printing 
machinery products, have been 
higher than expected. In addition, 
the market has not been helped 
by the cautious approach towards 
new capital investment in equipment 
by those within the printing industry. 
These factors have inevitably weakened 
gross margin as well as revenue.

To resolve these operational and 
support issues, additional senior and 
specific expertise was hired during 
the second half of 2009 and the early 
part of 2010. Company processes 
have been rigorously reviewed and 
improvements implemented. Additionally 
the breadth of activities has been 
rationalised to allow more focus to be 
applied in depth to the key activities 
which will generate returns in the 
shorter term. The rationalisation of our 
manufacturing facilities by consolidation 
into our Huntingdon facility, announced 

strategic 
focus

The results reflect the stabilisation 
of the business against a difficult 
economic background

P3 printhead sales into the ceramic 
printing market started to grow 
significantly towards the end of 2009

Final dividend of 1.5p is recommended, 
making 2.5p for the year (2008: 2.5p)
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in April 2009, continues to meet the 
planned schedule and budget. As 
initially indicated, capital funding for 
this consolidation is a mix of operational 
cash flow and external financing.

We have recovered market share 
in China (still our largest market) and 
sales of Platform 1 (P1) product 
remained strong throughout, aided 
by the latest product introductions, 
of which more are planned. Sales 
in Europe were depressed by the 
ongoing transition from P1 to P3 
products whilst North America has 
shown growth from P3 success. 
Our traditional markets of wide‑format 
graphics and coding and marking 
are stable.

In the Half Yearly Report last 
August I noted that a further ten 
printer OEMs had announced 
machines that incorporated Xaar P3 
technology during the first six months 
of 2009; that number has now 
been increased to a total of 18 
for 2009. In order to overcome the 
‘commercialisation’ difficulties referred 
to earlier, we have also focused more 
on achieving success with fewer 
applications, putting our resources 
behind those markets that we believe 
have the best chance of early success. 
As stated on a number of previous 
occasions, we know that the time 
from an OEM announcing a Xaar‑based 
printer to it becoming a commercial 
success is frustratingly long. However, 
as experience and expertise grow we 
expect these lead times to shorten.

It remains clear that with this 
number of OEM adoptions together 
with the enquiries received, Xaar 
technology remains a leader. In terms 
of new markets for P3, ceramic 
printing and primary packaging label 
printing continue to offer substantial 
opportunities. P3 printhead sales into 
the ceramic printing market started to 
grow significantly towards the end 
of 2009, and are expected to be a 
strong contributor to the company’s 
revenue over the next period. Label 
applications are taking longer to 

deliver volume sales, however this 
is expected to occur during 2010. 

results and dividend
Revenue and profit results for the year 
were in line with market consensus, 
aided by increased royalty income. 
We continue to manage costs very 
carefully, pay close attention to cash 
flow and again ended the year with 
a healthy cash balance. Despite 
the product introduction setbacks 
referred to earlier, we are confident 
that we have the financial resources 
to manage through the difficult 
external trading environment and 
remain in a strong position to 
capitalise on opportunities as 
the market recovers. 

Based on the continuing cash 
generation of the business, the board 
has decided to recommend a final 
dividend of 1.5p which, together with 
the 1.0p interim dividend paid already, 
maintains the total dividend for the 
year at 2.5p (2008: 2.5p). 

Board
After nine years dedicated and valued 
service, John Scott will no longer be 
considered independent as far as the 
‘combined code’ is concerned and 
will therefore retire at the forthcoming 
AGM. On behalf of the board I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank 
John for his wise counsel and sound 
judgement whilst exercising his duties 
as non‑executive director, Chairman 
of the Audit Committee and, more 
recently, Senior Independent Director.

After a wide search I am pleased that 
we recently appointed Robin Williams 
as a non‑executive director and, with 
effect from the forthcoming AGM, 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
Robin is a Chartered Accountant with 
broad experience as a director of 
both quoted and private companies.

Rob Eckelmann, who has served on 
the board since October 2005 and is 
Chairman of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee, will become 
Senior Independent Director. 

outlook
The adoption of inkjet technology by 
the wider printing industry continues 
cautiously although certain applications 
are now moving forward more quickly. 
Whilst the overall state of the global 
economy does not appear conducive 
to capital outlay, the disruptive nature 
of Xaar’s technology is presenting 
opportunities for certain printing OEMs 
to offer new flexibility and value to 
their customers. The board remains 
convinced that Xaar has the right 
products and has matured in its 
understanding of what it takes to 
make the new technology a success 
for our OEM customers. We remain 
profitable, cash generative and 
financially strong.

The company is now focusing its 
resources on the specific partners 
and markets that will bring faster 
material returns and, at the same 
time, act as role models that other 
OEMs may follow. Part of this focus 
is to place greater emphasis on 
market requirements, product 
definition and the processes to 
design and manufacture for a 
better customer experience.

The results for 2009 were as 
predicted but the board remains 
convinced that Xaar has the potential 
to deliver growth. The management 
team has re‑focused on improvement, 
has demonstrated tenacity and is 
committed to delivering success.

Phil lawler
Chairman
16 March 2010

The adoption of 
inkjet technology 
by the wider printing 
industry continues.
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product 
development

direCtors’ report Continued
what we do

We focus on providing flexible solutions 
for applications in the Graphics, Packaging 
and Industrial Print sectors and making 
Xaar inkjet the core technology of choice 
for manufacturers of industrial printers.

Coding and marKing

An extensive range of printheads 
allows for simple integration into 
small character inkjet printing 
systems, which offer precise print 
capability directly onto carton board 
as a method to replace pre-print 
onto cases or labels.

graphiCs

Xaar-based print products 
are the most widely used in this 
sector. The move from an analogue 
screen printing process to a digital 
process has resulted in a huge 
number of wide and grand-format 
printers becoming available on 
the market today.

platform 1 teChnology

Market-leading binary 
printheads used by industrial 
printers for high coverage 
printing applications

Products:
Xaar 126 Xaar 128

Xaar 500 Xaar Electron

Xaar Proton (product shown)
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platform 2 teChnology platform 3 teChnology

Benefits from Hybrid  
Side-ShooterTM architecture 
with TF TechnologyTM

Products:
Xaar 1001 (product shown)

Printheads featuring a unique, 
Xaar‑patented, multi‑pulse 
greyscale technology

Products:
Xaar 318 series

Xaar 760 (product shown)

laBelling

Xaar’s family of variable drop 
piezoelectric inkjet printheads are 
capable of delivering both the quality, 
reliability and the speed required 
by the high-quality label market. 
Innovative printing systems based 
on these printheads are continuing 
to come to market.

CeramiCs

The ceramic tile industry is very dynamic, 
driven by consumer trends and retailer 
demands and, as such, is changing 
rapidly. Globalisation and maturing of the 
existing analogue print technology has 
created a global market limiting the 
differentiation primarily to price and 
design. There are now various printers 
available that can handle a variety of 
fluids with ease to print short run volumes 
of bespoke tiles, cost effectively.
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global  
growth

direCtors’ report Continued
where we do it

Xaar is active on a global level, continuing 
to develop and promote new products 
and is driving adoption of inkjet across 
the board into new spaces.

ameriCas

£6.8m
16%
of general sales

manufaCturing move to the uK

The transfer of manufacturing 
capability from Sweden to UK under 
way; relocation process is on track.

Xaar confirms the decision to transfer 
the manufacture of printheads to the 
East of England. The transfer is taking 
place in a phased process over a  
two-year period and the project is on 
track for completion by March 2011.

neW orleans

A wide variety of printers 
utilising Xaar printheads are 
on display at SGIA 2009.

“Evident at SGIA is the wide 
variety of manufacturers that 
design their printers with Xaar 
printheads, from wide-format 
to specialty pad printers”, 
comments Chris Lynn, VP 
Sales and Marketing, Xaar 
Americas, Inc. “The assortment 
of printheads from Xaar allows 
manufacturers to select from 
binary, greyscale and different 
speeds, resolutions and 
drop sizes to fit their 
specific requirements.”
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asia

£22.4m
54%
of general sales

europe

£12.8m
30%
of general sales

Brussels

Xaar continues to 
demonstrate its leadership 
in digital inkjet at Labelexpo 
Europe 2009.

“The increased number 
of Xaar-based inkjet printers 
showing at this year’s Labelexpo 
is a strong signal that inkjet 
can be both complementary 
and competitive to the existing 
technologies”, comments 
Phil Eaves, Sales and Marketing 
Director, Xaar. “The variety 
of applications running on 
different media demonstrates 
the flexibility of Xaar inkjet.”

neW delhi

Xaar demonstrates the power 
of its two latest printheads 
at FESPA India 2009.

“A number of printers are 
coming to market now with our 
latest printheads. This proves 
that companies can quickly 
deliver competitive printers 
that combine the highest level 
of quality and speed with 
maximum cost-effectiveness 
and low cost of ownership”, 
comments Phil Eaves, Sales 
and Marketing Director, Xaar.
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direCtors’ report Continued
review of oPerations

New technology Platform 3 products gather 
momentum; production capacity is being 
increased significantly to meet demand.

introduCtion
In a difficult economic environment 
Xaar has made progress during 2009, 
both in stabilising sales of its traditional 
Platform 1 (P1) products and in 
developing sales of its new Platform 3 
(P3) products. Progress to recover 
P1 market share in existing markets 
after the downturn in 2008 has been 
reasonable and should continue into 
2010. The significant cost reductions 
announced in 2008 were realised 
fully in 2009; however their effect 
was diluted by an unexpected 
level of costs associated with the 
deployment of new products into 
diverse applications. These costs 
were predominantly incurred in 
solving final stage performance 
and quality issues, which were 
exacerbated by the demands of 
supporting multiple end product 
developments in parallel. The 
complexity of the learning curve 
for some of these new products 
and applications is not uncommon in 
leading edge technology, especially 
in the digital imaging world. Having 
said that, some applications are now 
emerging as stable and material 

businesses and the company 
remains confident that others are 
now close to that final transition; 
hence we believe the opportunities 
for P3 sales remain significant. To ensure 
we are successful, the company has 
initiated a number of improvement 
programmes during the second half 
of the year, the benefits of which we 
expect to start to see during 2010. 
Relocation of the Swedish manufacturing 
capacity to the UK is underway fully 
and tracking to plan with completion 
in early 2011. 

Business review
The total revenue of £42.1m 
(2008: £42.0m) is made up of: 
product sales: £36.7m (2008: £37.5m), 
representing 87% of turnover (2008: 
89%); royalties: £4.7m (2008: £3.9m), 
representing 11% of turnover (2008: 
9%) and development fees delivering 
£0.7m (2008: £0.6m). 

Gross margin for the year declined 
to 41% (2008: 49%) due to the 
combined effect of lower P1 
throughput to absorb manufacturing 
overheads, competition in the P1 strong 

opportunity

Progress during 2009 both in stabilising 
sales of traditional P1 products and in 
developing sales of new P3 products

The company has initiated a number 
of improvement programmes during 
the second half of the year

We remain convinced that P3 sales 
will grow to become a substantial 
contributor to product revenue 
and profits over the medium term
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markets reducing margins, 
and the level of costs associated 
with new product introductions. 
The impact of throughput and 
new product introduction costs is 
expected to decline during 2010. 
Gross margin is expected to improve 
further as the manufacturing site 
consolidation programme 
concludes the following year.

The decline in P1 sales seen in 2008 
has been halted and this business 
has stabilised, albeit at a lower level 
and at lower margins than historically 
achieved due to the increasingly 
competitive environment. For P1 
products in 2009, there was growth 
in China, offset by some decline in 
Europe and South America. The Proton 
launch in China boosted sales 
especially in H1 and we have recently 
added a second variant to this range 
intended to further stimulate demand 
in 2010. Proton adoption in both 
South America and India has been 
slower than in China; however we 
would expect this adoption to 
accelerate during 2010. Electron 
has been slower to make a material 

impact, primarily due to the higher 
requirements placed on both the 
printer product and the inks to realise 
the significant increase in speed. 
However the combined sales rate 
of 128 and Electron have been in 
line with expectations. As expected, 
Platform 2 (P2) sales, especially in 
Europe, declined during the year. 

Despite the implementation and 
support issues outlined above, 
P3 sales grew strongly during the 
year and now represent a material 
percentage of our product revenue. 
The support and implementation 
costs reduced gross margins during 
2009; we expect these costs to 
reduce as we move through 2010, 
with a commensurate improvement 
in margins. Digital printing of ceramic 
tiles has been the first application to 
stabilise fully and volume adoption 
developed in the closing months of 
2009. Other applications are presently 
moving toward levels of performance 
and stability which will generate volume 
sales; we will continue to work with 
our partners in these areas to get 
to the final stability and performance 

required. We remain convinced that 
P3 sales will grow to become a 
substantial contributor to product 
revenue and profits over the 
medium term. 

Although licensee unit volume sales 
were broadly unchanged over 2008, 
licensee royalties increased by 20% 
due to a more financially favourable 
mix of product and continuing 
advantageous exchange rates.

CommerCial review 
GeoGraPhiC 
As a supplier of technology to OEM 
partners, our geographic sales split 
reflects where our products are 
integrated into the final product and 
not necessarily the end user location.

Asia continues to be our largest market 
and generated 54% of our total sales 
in 2009 at £22.4m (2008: £20.3m) 
including license fees primarily from 
Japan. Following the decline in sales 
in 2008, we have regained market 
share by launching new P1 products 
and continuing to work closely 
with our partners in the region. 

Xaar’s technology 
is presenting 
opportunities for 
certain printing 
OEMs to offer new 
flexibility and value 
to their customers. 

a neW opportunity: CeramiCs

The ceramic tile industry is very 
dynamic, driven by consumer trends 
and retailer demands and, as such, 
is changing rapidly.

With the current challenges in the ceramic 
sector, manufacturers are looking for ways 
to cut costs, maximise flexibility and gain new 
business. The economic viability of small batch 
production and the cost and time involved in 
ceramic tile printing is being transformed by 
digital print techniques. Sample tiles can be 
provided to the distribution network and printed 
in very small batches as they are ordered by 
the consumer, cutting down on storage, 
stock distribution costs and wastage.
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direCtors’ report Continued
review of oPerations Continued

P3 demand strengthened strongly in the 
final months of 2009 and this is expected 
to continue into 2010.

CommerCial review Continued
GeoGraPhiC Continued
2009 results reflect some success 
but activities are ongoing. Proton 
achieved good sales in its first year; 
building on that we have launched 
a second variant which we expect 
to contribute additionally during 2010. 
Although Electron sales have been 
slower than planned, when combined 
with continuing sales of the ‘industry 
standard’ 128 product, our sales of 
‘small format’ printheads has been 
reasonable overall. India and Korea 
also continue to be important markets 
for Xaar in this region and have been 
broadly stable over the period.

The worst effect of the economic 
downturn on Xaar’s business was 
felt in Europe where sales accounted 
for 30% of total revenue (2008: 36%) 
with sales of £12.8m (2008: £14.9m). 
This market is in transition from our 
traditional P1 technologies to P3. This is 
reflected in a decline throughout the 
year of P1 business in both graphic 
arts and coding and marking 
business; however P3 demand 
strengthened strongly in the final 
months of 2009 and this is expected 
to continue into 2010. 

Total sales to the Americas were 
stable at £6.8m (2008: £6.8m) 
representing 16% of sales. Within 
that figure, North American sales 
increased by 23% assisted by the 
adoption of P3 technology whilst 
South America declined 33% based 
on lower P1 sales. 

end markets
51% of sales were related to 
the graphic arts market, which 
continues to be the largest market 
for Xaar technology, specifically large 
format advertising and signage 
printing. £21.3m of sales represents 
an 8% decline over 2008, due to a 
combination of much lower activity 
in Europe counteracted somewhat 
by market share recovery in China.

Sales into the packaging market 
were £9.4m (2008: £9.2m), this 
being 22% of total sales. This 
business is predominately P1 
products into coding and marking 
applications and P3 products into 
label printing. Overall our sales into 
coding and marking applications 
declined in Europe but grew in 
North America. The adoption of 
digital label printing through P3 

technology has been more challenging 
than initially anticipated; however 
good progress is being made and 
we remain optimistic about this 
market place. 

Sales into industrial markets have 
risen by 20% over the previous year, 
accounting for £6m or 14% of total 
turnover. Progress has been most 
significant in the ceramic printing 
sector utilising P3 technology. As 
noted last year, this industrial sector 
is now becoming material for Xaar 
and we continue to explore and 
support opportunities which can 
become commercially viable in 
both the short and medium term.

oPerations review
The relocation of all manufacturing 
capacity from Sweden to the UK is 
progressing to the plan announced 
earlier in the year. Facilities work is 
now complete and Phase 1 of the 
equipment and process move 
commenced during the year. Phase 2 
and Phase 3 will occur during 2010, 
with the relocation planned to 
complete early in 2011.

I believe the 
company will 
emerge from this 
period in a fitter 
and more robust 
state, capable 
of maximising 
the significant 
opportunities 
which lie ahead 
of us.
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As noted earlier, the issues seen 
in 2009 around the launch of new 
products has resulted in a significant 
overhaul of our new product introduction 
processes and an upgrade to our 
quality systems both in R&D and 
manufacturing. Whilst these will incur 
some incremental costs in the short 
term, the potential benefit is significant 
and we would expect to see the first 
signs of this improvement in gross 
margin during 2010.

R&D spend in the year was £4.6m 
(2008: £4.5m), representing 11% 
(2008: 11%) of sales. Stabilisation of 
P3 and implementing the upgraded 
new product introduction process 
remain the primary priorities.

Priorities for the future
The top priority for 2010 is to achieve 
the final performance level required 
for all of our P3 based developments 
allowing volume business to develop. 
This, combined with a stable P1 
business, is expected to deliver 
increased sales and an improvement 
in gross margin. Over the medium 

term, based upon both the growth 
of our P3 business and the cost 
savings following the completion 
of our manufacturing relocation 
programme, we expect both margins 
and profitability to improve further.

PeoPle
Once again I would like to thank 
our staff for all their efforts during 
a challenging and frustrating year. 
I believe the company will emerge 
from this period in a fitter and more 
robust state, capable of maximising 
the significant opportunities which lie 
ahead of us.

ian dinwoodie
Chief exeCutive
16 March 2010

The top priority 
for 2010 is to 
achieve the final 
performance level 
required for all 
of our P3 based 
developments 
allowing volume 
business to develop. 

a neW opportunity: laBelling

The digital printing of labels offers all 
of the anticipated benefits of digital – 
cost‑effective short runs, variable 
data and printing on demand. 

Delivering print quality comparable to or better 
than traditional flexo and screen printing with 
none of the time and costs associated with press 
set up or job changeover. Drop-on-demand inkjet 
technology therefore makes it economical to print 
anything from a single label to 50,000; from simple 
monochrome barcodes and informative labels 
to full‑colour, high‑quality decorative labels.

A secondary benefit of no make‑ready is 
the reduced waste, which in turn benefits the 
environment. And with no cylinders or plates 
being used the image length can be almost 
unlimited opening up new creative opportunities 
for label and packaging designers.
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direCtors’ report Continued
finanCial review

Trading in 2009 was more stable than 2008 with 
the first and second halves of 2009 showing 
growth of 7% and 8% respectively over an 
admittedly difficult second half of 2008.

tradinG
Trading in 2009 was more stable 
than 2008 with the first and second 
halves of 2009 showing growth of 
7% and 8% respectively over an 
admittedly difficult second half of 
2008. With first half revenues of 
£20.9m and second half revenues 
of £21.2m full year revenue was in 
line with market consensus at £42.1m 
(H1 2008: £22.5m, H2 2008: £19.5m, 
full year 2008: £42.0m). Within this flat 
year‑on‑year performance, 2009 saw 
an overall fall of 2% in printhead and 
related product sales to £36.7m 
(2008: £37.5m), offset by a 20% 
increase in licence fees and royalties 
to £4.7m in 2009 (2008: £3.9m). With 
2008 being very much a year of two 
contrasting halves, printhead and 
related product sales in the second 
half of 2009 grew by 8% over the 
second half of 2008 to £18.2m (H2 
2008: £16.9m) but were 11% down 
on the first half of last year (H1 2008: 
£20.6m). Licence fees and royalties 
showed steady growth over the same 
period to £2.6m (H1 2008: £1.6m; H2 
2008: £2.3m), the 67% growth over 
the first half of 2008 being assisted 
by the strengthening of the Japanese 
yen against sterling in the second 
half of 2008. Development fees 
remain immaterial.

Gross margin for the year excluding 
restructuring costs was 41% (2008: 
49%). Despite trading being more 
stable than in 2008, the 2009 gross 
margin fell significantly when 
compared to 2008 as a result of 
higher than anticipated product 
launch and customer support costs, 
commercial pressure on Platform 1 
(P1) product margins, and lower P1 
production throughput impacting 
manufacturing overhead recovery.

Operating expenditure for the year, 
excluding exceptional items, was 
£14.5m (2008: £17.6m) reflecting 
the full impact of the cost saving 
measures taken in the second half of 
2008. Operating expenditure includes 
amortisation of capitalised R&D of 
£1.4m (2008: £1.0m). Exceptional 
items in the year include a net reversal 
of share‑based payment charges 
of £0.8m (2008: credit £0.1m), the 
expected total restructuring costs 
associated with the closure of the 
Swedish plant of £2.7m (2008: £nil), 
the foreign exchange loss associated 
with operating the Swedish plant of 
£0.2m (2008: gain £1.8m) and the 
impairment of trade investments of 
£0.6m (2008: £0.1m). The restructuring 
costs associated with the closure of 
the Swedish plant include a provision 
of £1.9m (2008: £nil) in respect of 
costs expected to be incurred in 2010 

Turnover was £42.1m (2008: £42.0m)

Cash generative in the second half 
of the year

Net cash of £11.1m at 31 December 2009
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and 2011. The charge for the 
impairment of a trade investment 
represents £0.6m in relation to 
a US based printing technology 
integration company that ceased 
trading in August 2009.

Adjusted profit before tax for the 
year was £2.6m (2008: £2.8m). 
Adjusted profit before tax is stated 
before exceptional items and is the 
measure used by management to 
measure the underlying profitability 
of the company. Loss before tax for 
the year was £0.2m (2008: profit 
of £4.4m).

restruCturinG
Both the effect of the cost saving 
programme undertaken in the second 
half of 2008, and the ongoing relocation 
of manufacturing capacity from Sweden 
to the UK, have impacted financial 
results for the year. The cost saving 
programme delivered the forecast 
savings through a mixture of headcount 
and discretionary expenditure cuts 
resulting in a reduction in operating 
expenditure over 2008 of £1.9m. The 
costs of the manufacturing relocation 
project are in line with initial forecasts 
of incremental capital expenditure 
of £3.5m, pulled forward capital 
expenditure of an additional £3.5m 
and a restructuring charge of £2.7m.

Cash and CaPital exPenditure
Net cash at the end of the year was 
£11.1m (2008: £11.0m) after dividend 
payments of £1.5m (2008: £2.1m) 
and capital expenditure (tangible and 
intangible) of £5.2m (2008: £4.2m). 
The increase in capital expenditure 
over 2008 is a direct result of equipment 
and infrastructure purchases for the 
Huntingdon facility to incorporate 
the transfer of production from 
Sweden. The only debt outstanding 
at 31 December 2009 was £0.4m 
(2008: £0.6m) relating to the financing 
of capital equipment. A further £1.3m 
of capital equipment was financed 
in January 2010. The group 
continues to manage its resources 
prudently, resulting in gross cash 
at 31 December 2009 of £11.5m 
(2008: £11.6m).

dividend
The board will recommend a 
final dividend of 1.5p for 2009 at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, 
giving a total dividend for the year of 
2.5p (2008: 2.5p). An interim dividend 
of 1.0p was paid during the year 
(2008: 1.0p). Subject to approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting, the final dividend will be 
paid on 25 June 2010 to shareholders 
on the register on 4 June 2010.

The board will 
recommend a 
final dividend of 
1.5p giving a total 
dividend for the year 
of 2.5p (2008: 2.5p).

The group continues to manage its 
resources prudently, resulting in gross 
cash at 31 December 2009 of £11.5m 
(2008: £11.6m).
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direCtors’ report Continued
finanCial review Continued

foreiGn CurrenCy
The group’s foreign exchange 
exposure has remained consistent 
with previous years with 69% (2008: 
66%) of product revenues invoiced 
in sterling, 18% (2008: 25%) in US 
dollars and 13% (2008: 9%) in euros. 
Purchases were 52% (2008: 46%) 
sterling, 20% (2008:25%) Swedish 
kronor, 12% (2008: 17%) US dollars 
and 11% (2008: 12%) euros. The 
group will continue to have an 
exposure to the Swedish kronor 
throughout 2010, although it is 
expected that Swedish kronor 
purchases will reduce later in the 
year as production continues to 
transfer to Huntingdon.

annual General meetinG
The Annual General Meeting will 
be held at 9.30am on 19 May 2010. 
In a change to previous years, the 
venue for the Annual General Meeting 
will be the Brandon Hall Hotel and 
Spa, Brandon, Coventry CV8 3FW, 
to coincide with IPEX 2010 where 
many of the group’s customers will 
be exhibiting printing machines 
incorporating Xaar technology.

risks and unCertainties
Risk is an inherent part of 
doing business. The group has 
a process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the risks faced by 
the business and has identified the 
following factors as principal potential 
risks to the successful operation of 
the business:

•  if our initiatives to grow the 
business are not effective, 
financial performance of the 
group could be adversely affected;

•  if we cannot effectively anticipate 
technology trends and develop new 
products to respond to changing 
customer preferences, this could 
adversely affect group revenues;

•  if we cannot enforce the intellectual 
property rights on which our business 
depends or if third parties claim that 
we infringe their intellectual property 
rights our revenue and profit may 
be adversely impacted;

•  if we cannot attract, retain and 
motivate key employees the 
performance of our business 
could be adversely affected;

•  if our IT infrastructure does not 
perform as required our revenues and 
profit could be adversely impacted;

•  if we are unable to effectively 
complete, integrate and manage 
any acquisitions, disposals or other 
significant transactions this could 
adversely affect the group’s 
business performance and 
revenues and profit;

•  changes to the economic and 
political environment in both our 
major markets and the regions 
where we manufacture could 
adversely affect our business 
and financial performance;

•  failure to effectively manage our 
working capital could adversely 
affect our cash flow;

Risk is an inherent part of doing business. 
The group has a process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the risks.
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•  failure to manage our relationships 
with third party suppliers for raw 
materials could adversely affect our 
ability to maintain consistent supply 
of finished goods;

•  failure to manage our relationships 
with third party suppliers for capital 
production equipment could adversely 
affect our ability to maintain consistent 
supply of finished goods;

•  competition from direct competitors 
or third party technologies could 
impact our market share and pricing;

•  failure to effectively manage 
our distribution of products could 
damage customer confidence 
and adversely affect our revenues 
and profits;

•  when goods are sold internationally 
we are subject to movements in 
foreign exchange rates that may 
adversely affect our revenues;

•  if our reputation is damaged 
through product quality or other 
issues our ability to generate 
sales may be harmed;

•  natural disaster affecting 
our manufacturing locations or 
our customers’ locations could 
adversely affect our future revenue 
and profit; and

•  loss or damage to key production 
equipment as a result of moving 
from Sweden to the UK may affect 
our ability to manufacture product.

key PerformanCe indiCators
The principal measures management 
uses to monitor the performance of 
the group are as follows:

revenue By Business and 
GeoGraPhiCal seGment: sales 
revenue measured against budget 
on a monthly basis;

Gross marGin: gross margin 
measured against budget on 
a monthly basis;

oPeratinG exPenditure: operating 
expenditure measured against 
budget on a monthly basis;

adjusted PBt: adjusted profits before 
tax is a measure of profit before tax, 
share option costs and exceptional 
items. This is measured monthly 
against budget; and

Cash: cash is measured weekly with 
a full flow of funds reviewed monthly 
against target.

andrew taylor
finanCe direCtor
16 March 2010

_0_XAA_ar09_front.indd   15 12/04/2010   17:00:12



16   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

direCtors’ report Continued
Board of direCtors

1. 2.

3.

4.

5.

1. Phil lawler
Chairman
Aged 61 – has extensive experience of 
high‑technology industries. He started with 
co‑founding a software business and subsequently 
spent 18 years until 2002 at Hewlett Packard in 
various senior positions, most recently as chairman 
and managing director of Hewlett Packard, UK 
and Ireland. After leaving Hewlett Packard, he 
has been chairman of a number of technology 
companies including several private companies 
where he has been introduced by private equity 
and venture capital investors. Between 2003 
and 2005 he was non‑executive chairman 
of Densitron Technologies plc. He is a 
Chartered Director.

2. ian dinwoodie
Chief exeCutive
Aged 49 – joined Xaar in September 2001 as 
Group Operations Director and was appointed 
Chief Executive in July 2003. With almost 30 years’ 
experience in high‑technology operations, he has 
held a variety of roles in engineering, quality assurance 
and manufacturing within the semiconductor, 
electronics and electronic imaging industries. 
Immediately prior to joining Xaar, he held the 
position of director of manufacturing for Fujifilm 
Electronic Imaging Ltd.

4. Phil eaves
sales and marketinG direCtor
Aged 56 – was previously marketing manager, 
Europe at Dainippon Screen, a world leader in 
electronic equipment for the graphic arts, flat panel 
display, printed circuit board and semiconductor 
markets. He brings over 20 years of sales and 
marketing expertise across many sectors of 
imaging and printing industries and has held 
senior management positions at Scitex, Crosfield 
and Xeikon.

3. andrew taylor
finanCe direCtor and ComPany seCretary
Aged 40 – joined Xaar in April 2001 as Financial 
Controller, was appointed Company Secretary 
in December 2003 and Deputy Finance Director 
in February 2008. He qualified as a Chartered 
Accountant with Ernst & Young in London prior 
to joining BAe Systems where he held a number 
of finance roles in their head office. He has 19 years 
of experience working in finance, nine of which 
have been at Xaar. He was appointed to the 
board as Finance Director on 31 March 2008.

5. GreG loCkett
manufaCturinG direCtor
Aged 41 – joined Xaar in 2002, with initial 
responsibility for UK operations and quality control. 
He was previously deputy director of manufacturing 
at Fujifilm Electronic Imaging Ltd. During his time 
with Xaar, he has overseen the expansion of the 
main manufacturing facility in Stockholm, Sweden 
and has managed the successful establishment 
of the new manufacturing facility in Huntingdon 
for Xaar’s new range of products. Greg was 
appointed Director of Manufacturing in 2003 and 
was appointed to the board as Manufacturing 
Director on 15 October 2007.
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governanceour business

6.

8. 9.

6. ramon Borrell
researCh and develoPment direCtor
Aged 46 – joined Xaar in August 2007. He was 
previously programme manager and technology 
strategy director in the large format printing division 
of Hewlett Packard, where he spent 13 years in 
Barcelona, Spain, all of them in R&D. He was trained 
as a mechanical engineer and has a Masters in 
Automotive Business and Technology. Ramon 
is also vice president and secretary of the 
board of directors of the Imaging Science 
and Technology Society.

9. john sCott
senior indePendent direCtor
Aged 57 – until 2001 an executive director of 
Lazard Brothers & Co., Limited and currently 
a director of a range of quoted and private 
companies, including Miller Insurance Services Ltd, 
Martin Currie Pacific Trust plc, JP Morgan Claverhouse 
Investment Trust plc and Alternative Asset Opportunities 
PCC Ltd; he is also chairman of Dunedin Income 
Growth Investment Trust PLC and Scottish Mortgage 
Investment Trust PLC; and deputy chairman of 
Endace Ltd. He joined the Xaar board in April 2001 
and was appointed the Senior Independent Director 
in February 2002. He will retire from Xaar at this 
year’s Annual General Meeting.

7. roBin williams
non-exeCutive direCtor
Aged 52 – joined Xaar in March 2010. He obtained an 
engineering degree from Oxford before qualifying as a 
Chartered Accountant with Peat Marwick Mitchell and 
then moving into corporate finance. He spent ten years 
with County Bank, UBS Philips & Drew and Salomon 
Brothers before co‑founding Britton Group plc.

As CEO of Britton, he grew the business to £250m 
revenues within six years, before selling to a competitor. 
He was then an executive director of Hepworth PLC, 
with a leading role in the rationalisation and subsequent 
sale of the group. He has subsequently held various 
public and private company directorships across 
a range of industries including business services.

Robin is currently chairman of Killby & Gayford 
Group Ltd and of NHS Professionals Ltd and a 
non‑executive director of Maxima Holdings plc 
and London Linen Supply Ltd.

8. roB eCkelmann
non-exeCutive direCtor
Aged 53 – started his career with the US Government’s 
International Trade Administration, where he was 
involved in the global trade policy for the science 
and electronics sector. In 1988 he joined Intel 
Corporation, starting in the office of then president 
Andy Grove, before moving to Asia to launch Intel’s 
business into China, India, and the ASEAN region. 

He later became Intel VP and general manager for 
Europe, Middle East and Africa. Mr Eckelmann holds 
several European non‑executive directorships 
including Wolfson Microelectronics plc.

7.
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direCtors’ report Continued
CorPorate soCial resPonsiBility

The group continued with the development of its formal Corporate Responsibility initiative, launched during the previous year to co‑ordinate existing activity 
and ensure monitoring of key metrics across its manufacturing and other operations. The aim of this initiative is to ensure the group is compliant with all 
relevant regulation and legislation whilst enhancing the working environment for our employees and minimising the environmental impact of our manufacturing 
processes. Internal reporting of key metrics has begun and is cascaded through the business.

formal direCtives and CertifiCation
The group manufactures products in both Sweden and England and undertakes research and development in England. The group complies with all local and 
European legislation relevant to the respective territories. The group’s manufacturing facilities in Stockholm and Huntingdon are both ISO9001 and ISO14001 
certified. It is the group’s policy to maintain this level of certification for its manufacturing facilities both current and future and to comply at all times with all 
relevant environmental and other legislation of the territories in which the group operates. The group is also compliant with REACH (Registration, Evaluation 
and Authorisation of Chemicals) and is continuing to work towards OHSAS18001 in both Huntingdon and Sweden.

With regard to the WEEE (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment) and RoHS (Restriction of the use of certain Hazardous Substances) directives, the group 
understands the environmental aims of these directives and, although Xaar’s product portfolio is not directly covered by these directives, will ensure its products 
comply wherever practicable and allow our OEM customers to fulfil these environmental policies more readily.

emPloyee welfare
It is our desire to foster and develop safe working practices across the group and to comply with all relevant Health and Safety (H&S) legislation. We believe 
that a safe environment that engages and looks after our employees leads to a stable environment and the Xaar group being a good place to work.

•  health and safety: We have an ongoing commitment to H&S training for employees and a number of training courses were held in the year. We have a 
monitoring and reporting system in place for accidents and near misses, and a regular schedule of H&S audits. Our aim is to ensure that we learn from past 
experiences and continually improve the safety of our employees and the working environment.

•  oCCuPational health: During 2008 we enhanced our programme by appointing a third party advisor to provide the health surveillance service to our 
manufacturing facility in Huntingdon. This service has been available in our Swedish facility for some years and is in the process of being rolled out across 
our Cambridge site.

•  reCoGnisinG suCCess: Any employee can be nominated by any other employee for an ‘achievement’ award where the company will award a cash sum in 
recognition of work delivered in excess of normal expectations. Additionally the company makes a number of annual cash awards for employees who have 
best demonstrated achievement and behaviour in line with the group’s vision and values.

soCial resPonsiBility
•  Two teams were entered into the BBC Children in Need fun run around Cambridge Science Park in November 2009. 

•  A fundraising event was held at the staff Christmas party to raise money for East Anglia’s Children’s Hospices (EACH), where the company matched staff donations.

• The company donated £10,000 in January 2010 to the Haiti earthquake appeal.
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RepoRt on affaiRs of the gRoup

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the group together with the financial statements and auditors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2009. 
The corporate governance statement set out on pages 21 and 24 forms part of this report.

pRincipal activity
The principal activity of the group continues to be the development and commercial exploitation of a patented inkjet printing technology. A detailed review 
of the group’s operations during the year and of its plans for the future together with the principal risks and uncertainties facing the group is given in the 
chairman’s statement, the review of operations and the financial review. The subsidiary undertakings of the group are listed in Note 11 to the company 
balance sheet.

Business Review
The group is required by the Companies Act to include a business review in this report. The information that fulfils the requirements of the business review 
can be found on pages 8 to 11 which are incorporated in this report by reference.

Results and dividends
Revenue for the year was £42.1m (2008: £42.0m) and comprised the sale of printheads and related products, development fees and licence fees and royalties. 
The profit after tax for the year was £0.4m (2008: £3.4m). The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 1.5p per ordinary share (2008: 1.5p), 
giving a total dividend of 2.5p per ordinary share (2008: 2.5p) for the full year. If approved at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will 
be paid on 25 June 2010 to shareholders on the register at close of business on 4 June 2010.

ReseaRch and development
£4.6m (2008: £4.5m) was spent on R&D in the year. R&D focused on both the development of existing products and technologies and researching new 
technologies for future inkjet projects.

tReasuRy
The group’s policy enables it to use financial instruments to hedge sufficient amounts of sterling inflows into Swedish kronor where appropriate in order to 
fund running costs of the group’s manufacturing facility in Sweden. The group also hedges its US dollar inflows to purchase sterling, the main trading currency 
of the group. The group’s use of financial instruments and the related risks are discussed further in Notes 20, 21 and 25.

disaBled employees and employee involvement
The group recognises that its competitive advantage depends upon the quality and engagement of the people it employs. To support this, its employment policies, 
including its commitment to equal opportunity, are designed to attract, retain and motivate high calibre employees regardless of sex, race, religion, age or disability. 
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant concerned. It is the policy of the 
group that the training, career development and promotion of disabled employees should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

The group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed of the various factors affecting the 
performance of the group. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings. All employees participate in a bonus scheme based on group business 
targets and, in the UK, have the opportunity to participate in an HMRC approved Share Save Scheme.

diRectoRs and theiR inteRests 
The directors who served throughout the year were as follows:

Ian Dinwoodie 
Andrew Taylor  
Phil Eaves 
Ramon Borrell 
Greg Lockett 
Phil Lawler 
John Scott 
Rob Eckelmann

Brief biographical descriptions of the directors are set out on pages 16 and 17. Full details of their interests in shares of the company and its subsidiary 
undertakings are included in the directors’ remuneration report on pages 28 to 32.

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   1 12/04/2010   17:00:30



20   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

diRectoRs and theiR inteRests continued
The interests of the directors in the shares of the company and its subsidiaries (all of which are beneficial) as at 31 December 2009 are as follows:

shaReholdings in the company
         Number of Number of 
         ordinary ordinary 
         shares of shares of 
         10p each 10p each 
         31 December 31 December 
         2009  2008 

Ian Dinwoodie         188,727 124,543
Andrew Taylor         13,272 13,272
Phil Eaves        172,249 — 
Ramon Borrell         77,698 69,788
Greg Lockett        1,722 1,722
Phil Lawler         89,052 45,000
John Scott        64,500 64,500
Rob Eckelmann        — — 

There have been no changes in the directors’ interests in shares of the company between 31 December 2009 and 16 March 2010. Directors’ interests 
in options over shares in the company are shown in the directors’ remuneration report.

In accordance with the company’s Articles of Association, at the Annual General Meeting referred to in more detail on pages 78 and 79. Ian Dinwoodie and 
Greg Lockett will retire from the board by rotation and offer themselves for re-election. In addition, Robin Williams was appointed as a director subsequent to 
the last Annual General Meeting and is therefore standing for election for the first time.

diRectoRs’ liaBilities
The company has granted an indemnity to one or more of its directors against liability in respect of any potential proceedings that may be brought by third parties, 
subject to the conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity provision remains in force as at the date of approving the 
directors’ report.

shaRe capital
As at 2 March 2010 the company had been notified in accordance with the Financial Services Association’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules, of the following 
material interests in its share capital:

         Number  Percentage 
         of ordinary  of issued 
         shares held share capital

Legal and General Investment Management        9,541,566 15.0%
Blackrock Investment Management        7,638,363 12.0%
AXA Framlington Investment Managers        6,944,198 10.9%
Cazenove Capital Management        5,723,892 9.0%
M&G Investment Management        5,213,303 8.2%
Artemis Investment Management        5,089,419 8.0%
Aviva Investors        1,943,614 3.1%

annual geneRal meeting
The notice convening the Annual General Meeting is set out on pages 78 and 79. Resolutions 1 to 6 set out in the notice of the meeting deal with the ordinary 
business to be transacted at the meeting. The special business at the meeting (Resolutions 7 to 11) is explained on page 28 (in relation to Resolution 7) 
and on the following page (in relation to Resolutions 8 to 11). 

Directors’ report continueD
RepoRt on affaiRs of the gRoup continued

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   2 12/04/2010   17:00:30



our business governance financial statements

annual report and accounts 2009   Xaar plc   21   

authoRity to puRchase own shaRes
Resolution 8
It is proposed by Resolution 8, by Special Resolution, to authorise the company generally and unconditionally to purchase its own shares at a price of not less 
than the par value of the shares and not more than 5% above the average of the middle market quotations of the shares as derived from the Daily Official List 
of the London Stock Exchange for the five dealing days immediately preceding the day on which the purchase is made. The authority will be for a maximum 
of 14.9% of the company’s issued share capital and will expire at the earlier of the next Annual General Meeting of the company or within 15 months from the 
date of the passing of this Resolution.

The directors currently have no intention to exercise the authority and will only purchase shares if it is in the best interests of shareholders as a whole.

The total number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at 31 December 2009 was 2,757,766. This represents 4% of the issued ordinary 
share capital at that date. If Xaar plc was to buy back the maximum number of ordinary shares permitted pursuant to the passing of this Resolution, then the 
total number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding at 31 December 2009 would represent 5% of the reduced issued ordinary share capital.

poweR to issue secuRities
Resolution 9
Under the Companies Act 2006 the directors of the company may only allot shares (whether for cash or otherwise) with the authority of shareholders given 
at a general meeting of the company. Under Resolution 9, to be proposed as an Ordinary Resolution, authority is sought to allot shares up to an aggregate 
nominal amount of £635,061, which represented 10% of the company’s ordinary share capital as at 16 March 2010 and is an amount within the maximum 
amount permitted under institutional guidelines. The directors do not currently have an intention to exercise the authority.

Resolution 10
This Resolution, to be proposed as a Special Resolution, will give the directors power to allot shares for cash on a non-pre-emptive basis up to a maximum 
aggregate nominal value of £317,530, representing 5% of the ordinary share capital of the company as at 16 March 2010.

The directors do not currently have an intention to exercise any power given to them by shareholders to allot shares for cash on a non-pre-emptive basis and, 
in any event, the directors will not allot any shares for cash on a non-pre-emptive basis if such allotment would exceed the limits established by the guidance 
published by the investment committees of the ABI and the NAPF. The authorities contained in Resolutions 9 and 10 will expire no later than 15 months after 
the passing of those Resolutions.

amendment to the aRticles of association
Resolution 11
The company is proposing to make a small amendment to its Articles of Association as a result of the final implementation of the Companies Act 2006 which 
took place on 1 October 2009. The Companies Act 2006 abolished the requirement for a company to have an authorised share capital. Resolution 11 therefore 
deletes Article 3 from the company’s Articles of Association which contained the statement of the company’s authorised share capital. The directors will still 
be limited as to the number of shares they can at any time allot because an allotment authority continues to be required under the Companies Act 2006; 
an allotment authority is proposed in Resolution 9.

chaRitaBle contRiButions
The group made charitable contributions to both children’s and local charities during the year totalling £1,033 (2008: £17,873). No political donations were 
made in the year (2008: £nil).

supplieR payment policy
The group’s and the company’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction, ensure that suppliers 
are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment.

Trade creditor days of the group at 31 December 2009 were 28 days (2008: 35 days).

additional infoRmation foR shaReholdeRs
The following provides the additional information required for shareholders as a result of the implementation of the Takeovers Directive into UK Law.

The structure of the company’s issued share capital is shown in Note 27 to the accounts.

The company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities and for voting rights.
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Directors’ report continueD
RepoRt on affaiRs of the gRoup continued

oRdinaRy shaRes
On a show of hands at a general meeting of the company every holder of ordinary shares present in person and entitled to vote shall have one vote for every 
ordinary share held and on a poll, every member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall have one vote for every ordinary share held. The notice 
of the Annual General Meeting on pages 78 and 79 specifies deadlines for exercising voting rights either by proxy notice or present in person or by proxy in 
relation to Resolutions to be passed at the Annual General Meeting. All proxy votes are counted and the numbers for, against or withheld in relation to each 
Resolution are made available at the Annual General Meeting and are published on the company’s website after the meeting.

RestRictions
There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in the company other than:

•  certain restrictions may from time to time be imposed by laws and regulations (for example, insider trading laws and market requirements relating to close 
periods); and

•  pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority whereby certain employees of the company require the approval of the company to deal 
in the company’s securities.

The company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a Special Resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders. Directors are reappointed 
by Ordinary Resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders. The board can appoint a director but anyone so appointed must be elected by an 
Ordinary Resolution at the next general meeting. Any director who has held office for more than three years since their last appointment must offer 
themselves up for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

significant inteRests
Directors’ interests in the share capital of the company are shown in the table on page 20. Major interests (i.e. those >3%) of which the company has been 
notified are shown on page 20.

company shaRe schemes
The Xaar plc ESOP Trust holds 2.5% of the issued share capital of the company in trust for the benefit of employees of the group and their dependants. 
The voting rights in relation to these shares are exercised by the trustees.

change of contRol
The company is not party to any agreements which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of control of the company following a takeover bid. There are 
no agreements between the company and its directors or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or employment (whether through resignation, 
purported redundancy or otherwise) that occurs because of a takeover bid. Depending on the achievement of performance conditions, share-based 
payment arrangements may vest on change of control but this is subject to the approval and exercise of the discretion of the remuneration committee.

going conceRn
The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the review of operations 
on pages 8 to 11. Notes 20, 21 and 25 include a description of the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The group has considerable financial resources and through a diverse customer base is exposed not only to the western economies but also China, India 
and Latin America. As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the continuing 
uncertain economic outlook.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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auditoRs
Ernst & Young LLP resigned as auditors in the year and Deloitte LLP were appointed as auditors in the year. Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness 
to continue in office as auditor and a Resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

diRectoRs’ statement as to disclosuRe of infoRmation to auditoRs
The directors who were members of the board at the time of approving the directors’ report are listed on pages 16 and 17. 

Having made enquiries of fellow directors and the company’s auditors, each of these directors confirm that:

•  to the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is no information relevant to the preparation of their report of which the group’s auditors are unaware; and

•  each director has taken all the steps a director might reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of relevant audit information and to establish that 
the group’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

diRectoRs’ ResponsiBility statement puRsuant to dtR 4
The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

•  the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

•  the management report, which is incorporated into the directors’ report, includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business 
and the position of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties that they face.

By order of the board 

andRew tayloR science paRk
company secRetaRy camBRidge
16 March 2010 cB4 0XR

  RegisteRed numBeR: 3320972 
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Directors’ report continueD
coRpoRate goveRnance statement

The company is committed to the principles of corporate governance contained in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance which is appended 
to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority (the 2008 FRC Code) and for which the board is accountable to shareholders.

statement of compliance with the code of Best pRactice
Throughout the year ended 31 December 2009 the company has been in compliance with the provisions set out in section 1 of the 2008 FRC code.

statement aBout applying the pRinciples of good goveRnance
The company has applied the Principles of Good Governance set out in section 1 of the Combined Code, including both the Main Principles and the 
Supporting Principles, by complying with the 2008 FRC Code as reported above. Further explanation of how the Main Principles and Supporting Principles 
have been applied is set out below and, in connection with directors’ remuneration, in the directors’ remuneration report.

BoaRd of diRectoRs
The board of directors comprises the Chairman, five executive directors and two non-executive directors. Brief biographical details of all members of the board 
are set out on pages 16 and 17. John Scott will retire from the board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting after nine years as a non-executive director 
of Xaar and will be replaced as Senior Independent Director by Rob Eckelmann and as Chairman of the audit committee by Robin Williams.

The board considers John Scott, Rob Eckelmann and Robin Williams to be independent within the meaning of the 2008 FRC Code. 

The board is responsible for the formulation of strategy, the monitoring of financial and non-financial performance and the approval of major transactions, financial 
statements, other formal communications with shareholders and operating and capital expenditure budgets. Comprehensive board papers, dealing with all 
aspects of the business, are distributed by the Company Secretary one week in advance of each board meeting. The board met eight times during 2009.

There exists a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive. The Chairman’s primary role includes ensuring that the board functions 
properly, that it meets its obligations and responsibilities and that its organisation and mechanisms are in place and are working effectively. The Chief Executive’s 
primary role is to provide overall leadership and vision in developing, with the board, the strategic direction of the company. Additionally, the Chief Executive 
is responsible for the management of the overall business to ensure strategic and business plans are effectively implemented, the results are monitored 
and reported to the board and financial and operational objectives are attained. 

The board delegates management of the business to the executive committee, headed by the Chief Executive (Ian Dinwoodie) and consisting of the four 
other executive directors (Andrew Taylor, Phil Eaves, Ramon Borrell and Greg Lockett), the Director of Marketing (Mark Alexander) and the Director of Quality 
(Mike Read).

The executive committee meets weekly and is responsible for implementing group strategy, monitoring business performance, preparing the operating 
and capital expenditure budgets for recommendation to the board and ensuring efficient management of the group.

From left to right: Ian Dinwoodie; Andrew Taylor; Greg Lockett; Ramon Borrell; Phil Eaves; Mike Read; 
and Mark Alexander.
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summaRy of BoaRd meeting attendance in 2009
Eight board meetings were held in 2009.

          Meetings  
Name         attended

Phil Lawler          8
John Scott          8
Rob Eckelmann         8
Ian Dinwoodie          8
Andrew Taylor         8
Phil Eaves          8
Ramon Borrell         8
Greg Lockett         8

BoaRd committees
summaRy of committee memBeRship
         Audit  Remuneration  Nomination 
Name       committee  committee  committee

Phil Lawler        No Yes Yes
John Scott1       Chairman Yes  Yes
Rob Eckelmann       Yes Chairman Chairman
Ian Dinwoodie       No No Yes
1 Robin Williams will replace John Scott as Chairman of the audit committee and member of the remuneration and nomination committees at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

summaRy of committee meeting attendance in 2009
        Audit Remuneration Nomination 
Name       committee  committee  committee

Number of meetings held       2 2 2

Phil Lawler       N/A 2 2
John Scott        2 2 2
Rob Eckelmann       2 2 2
Ian Dinwoodie       N/A  N/A 2

conflicts of inteRest
Following the changes made to the company’s Articles of Association to incorporate the provisions of section 175 of the Companies Act 2006 which gave 
boards the statutory power to authorise conflicts of interest, any potential conflict of interest is approved by the board in advance of any action or appointment 
that could result in a conflict of interest arising.

audit committee
The audit committee’s role includes the examination and review of, on behalf of the board, internal financial controls, financial and accounting policies and 
practices, the form and content of financial reports and statements and the financial judgements therein, and the work of the external auditor. The committee 
ensures that arrangements are in place for staff of the group to raise, confidentially or publicly, concerns about any possible improprieties and ensure that 
arrangements are in place for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow up action. The written terms of reference 
of the committee are available on request from the Company Secretary. 

The committee meets with the company’s auditor twice a year. The Chairman of the company, Chief Executive and Finance Director attend by invitation, 
except for a period of each meeting where the committee members and Chairman of the company meet with the auditor without any member of the group 
management present. 

During the year Ernst & Young LLP resigned as auditors. Deloitte LLP, who were the group’s auditors from 2002 to 2005, were appointed as auditors during 
the year replacing Ernst & Young LLP.
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coRpoRate goveRnance statement continued

BoaRd committees continued
audit committee continued
The Chairman of the committee, John Scott, is deemed by the board to have recent and relevant financial experience as he was, until 2001, an executive director 
of Lazard Brothers, holds an MBA from INSEAD and is currently a Fellow of the Securities and Investment Institute and of the Chartered Insurance Institute. 
Robin Williams, who will replace John Scott as Chairman of the committee at the forthcoming AGM, is deemed by the board to have recent and relevant 
financial experience as he is a qualified Chartered Accountant, has ten years’ city experience with County Bank, UBS Phillips and Drew and Salomon Brothers, 
and is currently Chairman of the Audit Committee for Maxima Holdings plc.

The committee reviews the type of work, effectiveness of and level of fees charged by the auditors on an annual basis and recommends to the board the 
appointment, reappointment, term, remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The committee monitors fees paid to the auditors in 
respect of non-audit work. All additional work performed by the auditors is approved by the audit committee.

The independence and objectivity of the auditors is regularly considered by the committee taking into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory 
requirements. The committee receives an annual statement from the auditors detailing their independence policies and safeguards and confirming their 
independence, taking into account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of non audit services by the external auditors.

The committee reviews the need for an internal audit function on an annual basis and has concluded that, due to the current size and structure of the group 
and the level of control exercised by the executive committee, an internal audit function is neither necessary nor cost effective at this time.

The committee has formally identified Greg Lockett as director responsible for health and safety and Andrew Taylor as director responsible for risk assessment.

RemuneRation committee
The remuneration committee makes recommendations to the board on the group’s policy for executive remuneration and determines the individual remuneration 
packages on behalf of the board for the executive directors of the group. The Chief Executive attends meetings by invitation, except when the Chief Executive’s 
own remuneration package is being discussed.

The committee has access to professional advice, both inside and outside the company, in the furtherance of its duties. The committee has received 
information on best practice and market rates for directors’ remuneration from Deloitte during the year. The directors’ remuneration report sets out in more 
detail the committee’s policies and practices on executive remuneration. The written terms of reference of the committee are available on request from the 
Company Secretary.

nomination committee
The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the size and composition of the board, for making recommendations to the board on the appointment 
of new executive and non-executive directors and their reappointment following retirement by rotation. The committee meets as required. The written terms 
of reference of the committee are available on request from the Company Secretary. 

The process adopted by the committee to identify a candidate for a specific vacancy is, in the first instance, to determine whether any individuals known to 
the committee would be suitable for the role. If no candidates can be identified through this process then an external search consultancy will be approached. 
Short-listed candidates are interviewed by all members of the committee and other executive and non-executive directors as the committee deems appropriate. 
Once a suitable candidate has been identified, the Chairman of the committee will recommend to the board that the company make a formal offer of 
employment to the candidate.

Robin Williams was appointed to the board on 5 March 2010. The process of recruiting Robin Williams commenced during 2009, with the formal offer of 
employment being made in February 2010. 45 applicants were considered for the role and 19 were invited to interview. Six candidates were invited back for 
second interview after which a recommendation was put to the board to appoint Robin Williams as non-executive director and Chairman of the Audit Committee.

All directors are required to submit themselves for reappointment at least every three years and directors appointed during the year are required to seek 
reappointment at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment. 

peRfoRmance evaluation
The board’s policy for individual executive director performance reviews is for a formal and rigorous appraisal process based on performance by individual 
director against specific targets. The Senior Independent Director, in consultation with the other non-executive directors and taking into account the views of 
the other directors, appraises the performance of the Chairman. The executive directors, in consultation with the Chairman appraise the performance of the 
non-executive directors.

The board reviewed its performance once during the year through a questionnaire issued to all directors by an independent facilitator. The results were 
reviewed by the board as a whole. It is the board’s intention to review its own performance at least once a year.
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gRoup stRuctuRe
The group has three main locations. The head office functions, research and development, European sales and the marketing function are based 
in Cambridge, England. The group has two manufacturing facilities, one in Stockholm, Sweden and the other in Huntingdon, England. The group 
has representative offices in Shanghai, China, New Delhi, India, Sao Paulo, Brazil, Seoul, Korea, and Atlanta, USA. 

dialogue with institutional shaReholdeRs
The directors seek to build on a mutual understanding of objectives between the group and its institutional shareholders by meeting at least twice per year, 
following interim and annual results, to provide an update on trading and obtain feedback. Additionally, the group has hosted institutional investors at its 
Huntingdon facility during the year.

The group’s financial public relations advisors give all investors and potential investors, who have met with the group’s investor relations team, the opportunity 
to provide feedback on the meetings. The feedback is co-ordinated by the PR advisors into a single document which is circulated to all members of the board. 
Additionally the Chief Executive and Finance Director provide feedback to the board at the meeting following shareholder meetings.

Both the Chairman and the Senior Independent Director are available to meet with shareholders as required.

constRuctive use of the annual geneRal meeting
The board uses the Annual General Meeting to communicate with investors and to encourage their participation. 

inteRnal contRol 
The board has established a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks the group faces which has operated throughout 
the year, and up to the date of this report. The board regularly reviews the process, which has been in place from the start of 2008. The board is responsible 
for the group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance with respect to the preparation of financial information and the 
safeguarding of assets and against material misstatement or loss.

The board regularly reviews the effectiveness of the group’s system of internal control. The board’s monitoring covers all controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk management systems. It is based principally on reviewing reports from management to consider whether 
significant risks are identified, evaluated, managed and controlled and whether any significant weaknesses are promptly remedied and indicate a need for 
more extensive monitoring. The board has also performed a specific assessment for the purpose of this annual report. This assessment considers all significant 
aspects of internal control arising during the period covered by the report. The audit committee assists the board in discharging its review responsibilities.

This report was approved by the board of directors on 16 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

andRew tayloR science paRk
company secRetaRy camBRidge
16 March 2010 cB4 0XR

  RegisteRed numBeR: 3320972 
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Directors’ report continueD
diRectoRs’ RemuneRation RepoRt

This report has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 to the Accounting Regulations under the Companies Act 2006. The report also meets the relevant 
requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority and describes how the board has applied the Principles of Good Governance relating 
to directors’ remuneration. As required by the Act, a resolution to approve the report will be proposed at the AGM of the group at which the financial 
statements of the group will be approved. 

The Act requires the auditors to report to the company’s members on certain parts of the directors’ remuneration report and to state whether, in their opinion, 
that part of the report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Accounting Regulations. The report has therefore been divided into separate sections 
for audited and unaudited information.

unaudited infoRmation
RemuneRation committee
The principal function of the remuneration committee (the membership of which is outlined in the corporate governance statement) is to determine, on behalf of 
the board, the specific remuneration and other benefits of all executive directors, including pension contributions, bonus payments, share options and service 
contracts. The fees paid to the non-executive directors are determined by the board. Additionally, the remuneration committee makes recommendations 
to the board on the framework of executive remuneration. The committee has access to professional advice, both inside and outside the group, in the 
furtherance of its duties and has accessed such advice during the year.

total level of RemuneRation
The remuneration committee’s policy is to attract and retain individuals of the highest calibre by offering remuneration competitive with comparable publicly 
listed companies and fairly and responsibly reward individuals for their contribution to the success of the group. A substantial proportion of remuneration, 
representing bonuses and share-based remuneration, of executive directors is performance related.

Executive directors are entitled to accept appointments outside the group providing that the Chairman’s permission is sought and fees in excess of £20,000 
from all such appointments are accounted for to the group.

Basic salaRies
An executive director’s basic salary is reviewed by the committee prior to the beginning of each year and when an individual changes position or responsibility. 
In deciding appropriate levels, the committee considers the group as a whole, as well as the individual’s performance.

Benefits in kind
Benefits in kind represent company cars and private medical insurance.

Bonus payments
Bonuses are non-pensionable and based on a percentage of basic salary. For the year commencing 1 January 2010 the maximum potential bonus 
payment as a percentage of basic salary for directors under the annual bonus scheme is 100% of basic salary. Bonuses are payable based on annual 
targets. Non-executive directors do not receive a bonus.

teRmination
In the event of early termination, the executive directors’ contracts provide for compensation up to a maximum of basic salary for the notice period. The 
remuneration committee considers the circumstances of individual cases of early termination and in exceptional circumstances only would recommend 
compensation payments in excess of the company’s contractual obligations.

shaRe options
All executive directors are entitled to participate in the company’s share-based remuneration schemes, including the company’s SAYE scheme. Any grants 
thereunder are approved by the remuneration committee. Performance criteria for all share option schemes and long term incentive plans are intended to 
deliver increased shareholder value. 

Non-executive directors do not participate in the company’s share option schemes or long term incentive plans. It is the policy of the company to grant share 
options and make awards under the long term incentive plan to employees and executive directors as a means of encouraging ownership and providing 
incentives for performance.

Certain options granted to directors are subject to vesting criteria as summarised below.

Options held at 31 December 2009 granted prior to 2003 under the Xaar plc 1997 share option scheme:

Ian Dinwoodie: 100,000 options with an exercise price of 68.5p where, as long as the share price remains above the relevant threshold for at least 20 consecutive 
days after the earliest date of exercise, 33% vest at a share price of 110p, 66% vest at 125p and 100% vest at 140p. These options additionally require Earnings 
Per Share (EPS) growth over the three year vesting period to be more than RPI + 5% per annum compound.

Andrew Taylor: 15,000 options with an exercise price of 25p, with no performance criteria attached. These options were granted prior to joining the board.
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unaudited infoRmation continued
shaRe options continued
Options held at 31 December 2009 granted during 2003 under the Xaar plc 1997 share option scheme:

          Exercise 
         Number price

Ian Dinwoodie        200,000 36.0p

These options will vest as long as the share price remains above 76.0p for at least 20 consecutive days after the earliest date of exercise.

Options held at 31 December 2009 granted under the Xaar plc 2004 share option plan:

          Exercise 
        Date of grant Number  price

Ian Dinwoodie       20.05.04 100,000  84.0p
Andrew Taylor       20.05.04 35,000 84.0p
Ian Dinwoodie        28.10.04 50,000  109.0p
Greg Lockett       28.10.04 50,000  109.0p
Andrew Taylor       28.10.04 30,000 109.0p
Phil Eaves       15.03.05 119,791 192.0p

Additionally, Phil Eaves was granted a further 130,209 options on 15 March 2005 at an exercise price of 192.0p. This grant was made on Phil Eaves joining 
the company in accordance with Rule 9.4.2 (2) of the Listing Rules. These options are subject to a separate agreement between Phil Eaves and the 
company, with the terms of this agreement being the provisions of the Xaar plc 2004 share option plan in all respects except as to the limit of options allowed 
in relation to an individual’s salary.

An option granted under the Xaar plc 2004 share option plan will be exercisable over shares with a market value at the date of grant not exceeding a person’s 
annual salary if at the third anniversary of grant the EPS growth of the company since grant has exceeded the growth in the RPI over the same period by at least 
12%. To the extent that an option relates to shares with a market value as at the date of grant in excess of a person’s annual salary, the option will be exercisable 
over all of the excess shares if EPS growth over this period has exceeded RPI growth by at least 15%. For EPS performance between these two points, options 
will be exercisable over the excess shares on a sliding scale. In addition, options can only be exercised if EPS is at least 5.5p for the financial year preceding 
the third anniversary of grant. Performance may be retested once only from the date of grant to the fourth or fifth anniversary of grant (at the discretion of the 
remuneration committee), but the original EPS growth targets will be increased from 12/15% to 16/20% and 20/25% respectively. The 5.5p target will apply 
for the final financial year in the extended period.

An option granted under the Xaar plc 1997 SAYE Scheme or the Xaar plc 2007 SAYE Scheme vests after three years. No performance criteria are attached 
to options granted under this scheme.

Retesting of peRfoRmance cRiteRia undeR the Rules of the XaaR plc 2004 shaRe option plan
In accordance with best practice the remuneration committee has indicated that performance criteria will not be retested with regard to share options issued 
to directors under the Xaar plc 2004 share option plan.

options eXeRcised
     Market price Gain on   
   Options Exercise at date of exercise Date of  
Name  exercised price exercise £ exercise Scheme

Options exercised during 2008      
Ian Dinwoodie  1,722 99p 174.25p 1,296 25.04.08 Xaar plc 1997 SAYE Scheme
Andrew Taylor  803 99p 174.25p 604 25.04.08 Xaar plc 1997 SAYE Scheme
Greg Lockett  1,722 99p 174.25p 1,296 25.04.08 Xaar plc 1997 SAYE Scheme

No options were exercised by directors in 2009.

pension scheme
The company operates a self-administered, defined contribution, HMRC approved pension scheme. All current executive directors participate in this scheme. 
Non-executive directors do not receive pension contributions.
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diRectoRs’ RemuneRation RepoRt continued

peRfoRmance gRaph
The following graph shows the company’s performance, measured by Total Shareholder Return, compared with the performance of the FTSE TechMARK All Share Index. 

The FTSE TechMARK All Share Index has been selected for this comparison because the Index includes Xaar plc. For the purposes of this comparison the 
FTSE TechMARK All Share Index is based on the constituent companies in the Index at a point in time.

teRms of appointment
It is the group’s policy that executive directors should have contracts with an indefinite term, providing for a minimum of one year’s notice.

All non-executive directors are appointed for an initial three year term with provision for two further three year terms, subject to satisfactory performance.

The details of directors’ contracts are summarised below:

          Date of 
          contract

Ian Dinwoodie         13.11.01
Andrew Taylor          31.03.08
Phil Eaves         04.02.05
Ramon Borrell          27.08.07
Greg Lockett          15.10.07
Phil Lawler         01.06.07
John Scott          10.04.01*
Rob Eckelmann         01.10.05
Robin Williams         05.03.10

* Amended 1 May 2008.

audited infoRmation
diRectoRs’ RemuneRation
The remuneration of directors who served during the year was as follows:
               Total Money 
        Total Money   (including purchase  
        (excluding purchase   pension pension 
  Basic   Benefits Bonus pension pension Total contributions) contributions 
  salary Fees in kind payments contributions) contributions 2009 2008 2008 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive         
Ian Dinwoodie 185 — 28 — 213 13 226 243 13
Nigel Berry1 — — — — — — — 239 3
Andrew Taylor 95 — 18 — 113 7 120 88 4
Phil Eaves  145 — 27 — 172 10 182 193 10
Ramon Borrell 115 — 22 — 137 8 145 154 8
Greg Lockett 95 — 18 — 113 7 120 127 7

Non-executive         
Phil Lawler — 75 — — 75 — 75 75 —
Richard King1 — — — — — — — 12 —
John Scott  — 33 — — 33 — 33 33 —
Rob Eckelmann — 30 — — 30 — 30 30 —

  635 138 113 — 886 45 931 943 42
1 Stated for 2008 comparatives only, to date of resignation.

5 year return for Xaar plc vs TechMARK All Share Index for the period 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2009 
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audited infoRmation continued
diRectoRs’ shaRe options
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed on page 30 do not include any amounts for the value of options to acquire ordinary shares in the company granted or 
held by the directors. Details of the options are as follows:

   As at    As at Earliest Earliest  
   1 January    31 December exercise date of Expiry 
Name  2009 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2009 price exercise date

Ian Dinwoodie  100,000 1 — — — 100,000  68.5p  12.06.05  12.06.12
   200,000 1 — — — 200,000 36p  06.10.06  06.10.13
   100,000 1 — — — 100,000 84p  20.05.07  20.05.14
   50,000 1 — — — 50,000 109p  20.10.07  20.10.14
   98,540 1 — — (98,540) — 274p 15.09.08 15.09.15
   101,460 1 — — (101,460) — 294p 03.04.09 03.04.16
   3,958 4 — — — 3,958 191p 01.08.10 01.02.11

   653,958 — — (200,000) 453,958   

Phil Eaves  119,791 1 — — — 119,791 192p 15.03.08 15.03.15
   130,209 1 — — — 130,209 192p 15.03.08 15.03.15
   85,106 1 — — (85,106) — 294p 03.04.09 03.04.16

   335,106 — — (85,106) 250,000   

Greg Lockett  50,000 1,3 — — — 50,000 109p  20.10.07  20.10.14
   58,394 1,3 — — (58,394) — 274p 15.09.08 15.09.15
   11,606 1,3 — — (11,606) — 294p 03.04.09 03.04.16

   120,000 — — (70,000) 50,000   

Andrew Taylor   15,000 3 — — — 15,000 25p  19.11.05  19.11.12
   35,000 1,3  — — — 35,000  84p  20.05.07  20.05.14
   30,000 1,3 — — — 30,000 109p  20.10.07  20.10.14
   41,953 1,3 — — (41,953) — 274p 15.09.08 15.09.15
   8,047 1,3 — — (8,047) — 294p 03.04.09 03.04.16
   4,532 3,4 — — — 4,532 191p 01.08.10 01.02.11

   134,532 — — (50,000) 84,532   
1 These options carry certain specific performance criteria which must be achieved prior to vesting. Details are shown in the unaudited section of the directors’ remuneration report.

2 These options were granted under the Xaar plc 1997 Share Save Scheme (SAYE).

3 These amounts represent options granted prior to the date of appointment to the board.

4 These options were granted under the Xaar plc 2007 Share Save Scheme (SAYE).

The performance conditions relating to the above share options are given on pages 28 and 29.

long teRm incentive plan
Directors’ emoluments disclosed above do not include any amounts for the value of shares granted to directors under the Xaar plc 2007 Long Term Incentive 
Plan (LTIP). Details of awards are as follows:

       Date of grant  

      10 May 26 September 21 August 1 April Total number 
      2007 2007 2008 2009 of shares

Share price at date of award     258.5p 198.0p 111.0p 56.0p 

Ian Dinwoodie     67,277 — 170,900 330,357 568,534
Phil Eaves     53,000 — 107,159 258,928 419,087
Greg Lockett     28,500 — 70,207 169,642 268,349
Andrew Taylor     20,000 — 62,817 169,642 252,459
Ramon Borrell     — 55,000 84,988 205,357 345,345

Performance Share Awards granted under the LTIP are subject to two separate conditions, the first condition applying to 50% of the shares subject to each 
award and the second condition applying to the remaining 50%.
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Directors’ report continueD
diRectoRs’ RemuneRation RepoRt continued

audited infoRmation continued
the total shaReholdeR RetuRn (tsR) condition
In respect of the first 50% of each award (the TSR Awards), the number of shares that will vest will depend on the company’s TSR performance over the three financial 
years of the company commencing on 1 January of the year of grant against the TSR performance of the TechMARK All Share Index (the Comparator group).

(1) If the company’s TSR performance is below the median performance of the Comparator group, none of the TSR Awards will vest.

(2) For TSR performance which is equal to the median performance of the Comparator group, 35% of the TSR Awards will vest.

(3) All of the TSR Awards will vest for TSR performance at upper quartile and above.

(4) For TSR performance between median and upper quartile, the proportion of the TSR Awards that will vest will be calculated on a straight-line basis.

the eaRnings peR shaRe (eps) condition
In respect of the second 50% of each award (the EPS Awards), the number of shares that vest will depend on the EPS growth of the company for the three 
financial years of the company commencing on 1 January of the year of grant.

(1) None of the EPS Awards will vest if the company’s EPS growth does not exceed growth in the Retail Prices Index (RPI) by at least 4% compound p.a.

(2) 35% of the EPS Awards will vest if the company’s EPS growth exceeds growth in the RPI by at least 4% compound p.a.

(3) All of the EPS Awards will vest if the company’s EPS growth exceeds growth in the RPI by at least 10% compound p.a.

(4) EPS Awards will vest on a straight-line basis for EPS growth in excess of growth in the RPI of between 4% and 10% compound p.a.

shaRe pRice
The market value of the ordinary shares of the company as at 31 December 2009 was 80.5p (2008: 46.75p) per share. The closing mid range price ranged 
from 44.5p to 101.5p per share (2008: from 39p to 220p) during the year.

appRoval
This report was approved by the board of directors on 16 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

ian dinwoodie
chief eXecutive
16 March 2010
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diRectoRs’ ResponsiBilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors are required to prepare the group 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS 
Regulation and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. 

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

• properly select and apply accounting policies;

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; 

•  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact 
of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

• make an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s transactions and disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the company’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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independent auditoRs’ RepoRt (gRoup and company) to the members of Xaar plc  

We have audited the financial statements of Xaar plc for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
and parent company balance sheets, the consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the related Notes 1 to 36 and Notes 1 to 11 for the company. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective ResponsiBilities of diRectoRs and auditoRs
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the group’s and the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

•  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of the group’s 
profit for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

•  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards the group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

sepaRate opinion in Relation to ifRss as issued By the iasB
As explained in Note 3 to the group financial statements, the group in addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

In our opinion the group financial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB. 
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opinion on otheR matteRs pRescRiBed By the companies act 2006
In our opinion:

• the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

•  the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

matteRs on which we aRe RequiRed to RepoRt By eXception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

•  the parent company financial statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records 
and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• the directors’ statement contained within the directors’ report in relation to going concern; and

•  the part of the corporate governance statement relating to the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code specified 
for our review.

david halstead (senioR statutoRy auditoR)
foR and on Behalf of deloitte llp
chaRteRed accountants and statutoRy auditoRs 
camBRidge, united kingdom
1 apRil 2010
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consolidated income statement for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

     2009 2008 
    Note £’000 £’000

Continuing operations   
Revenue   5 42,073 42,017
Cost of sales    (24,822)  (21,389)

Gross profit    17,251 20,628
Distribution costs    (3,412)  (5,012)
Administrative expenses    (14,106)  (11,657)

Operating (loss)/profit    (267) 3,959
Investment income   5,9 117 450
Finance costs   10  (36)  (57)

Profit before tax before restructuring costs, impairment of trade investments, foreign exchange movements  
on intercompany loans, movements on derivative financial instruments and share-based payments     2,563 2,804
Restructuring costs     (2,686)  (553)
Impairment of trade investments    (639)  (120)
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on Swedish kronor denominated intercompany loans     (157)  1,829 
(Loss)/gain on derivative financial instruments     (46)  260 
Share-based payments     779 132

(Loss)/profit before tax     (186) 4,352
Tax     11  585  (921)

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders   7 399 3,431

Earnings per share from continuing operations   
Basic    13 0.6p 5.6p
Diluted   13 0.6p 5.5p

Dividends paid in the year amounted to £1,545,000 (2008: £2,148,000). Further disclosures are given in Note 12.

consolidated statement of compRehensive income for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

     2009 2008 
     £’000 £’000

Profit for the year    399 3,431

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations    (180) 75
(Loss)/gain on cash flow hedges    (349) 452
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income    499 (446)

Other comprehensive income for the year    (30) 81

Total comprehensive income for the year    369 3,512
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consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

       Hedging and   
   Share Share Own Other translation Retained  
   capital premium shares reserves reserves earnings Total 
  Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 January 2009 (as previously reported)   6,350   10,525   (4,465)  3,919   594   21,514   38,437 
Prior period adjustment 4 — — — — 741 — 741

Balance at 1 January 2009 (restated)  6,350 10,525 (4,465) 3,919 1,335 21,514 39,178

Profit for the year  — — — — — 399 399
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  — — — — (180) — (180)
Losses on cash flow hedges   — — — — (349) — (349)
Tax on items taken directly to equity  — — — — 98 401 499

Total comprehensive income for the period  — — — — (431) 800 369
Issue of share capital  1 — — — — — 1
Dividends 12 — — — — — (1,545) (1,545)
Charge to equity for equity settled share-based payments  — — — (779) — — (779)

Balance at 31 December 2009  6,351 10,525 (4,465) 3,140 904 20,769 37,224

       Hedging and   
   Share Share Own Other translation Retained  
   capital premium shares reserves reserves earnings Total 
  Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 January 2008 (as previously reported)   6,285   10,146   (4,465)  4,051   529   20,550   37,096 
Prior period adjustment 4 — — — —  406  —   406 

Balance at 1 January 2008 (restated)  6,285 10,146 (4,465) 4,051 935 20,550 37,502

Profit for the year  — — — — — 3,431 3,431
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  — — — — 75 — 75
Gains on cash flow hedges  — — — — 452 — 452
Tax on items taken directly to equity  — — — — (127) (319) (446)

Total comprehensive income for the period  — — — — 400 3,112 3,512
Issue of share capital  65 379 — — — — 444
Dividends 12 — — — — — (2,148) (2,148)
Charge to equity for equity settled share-based payments  — — — (132) — — (132)

Balance at 31 December 2008 (restated)  6,350 10,525 (4,465) 3,919 1,335 21,514 39,178

       Hedging and   
   Share Share Own Other translation Retained  
   capital premium shares reserves reserves earnings Total 
  Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance as at 1 January 2007 (as previously reported)   6,201   9,669   (3,420)  3,097   593   17,113   33,253 
Prior period adjustment 4 — — — —  304   (55)  249 

Balance at 1 January 2007 (restated)  6,201 9,669 (3,420) 3,097 897 17,058 33,502

Profit for the year  — — — — — 5,401 5,401
Own shares acquired in year  — — (1,045) — — — (1,045)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  — — — — 38 — 38
Tax on items taken directly to equity  — — — — — (691) (691)

Total comprehensive income for the period  — — (1,045) — 38 4,710 3,703
Issue of share capital  84 477 — — — — 561
Dividends  — — — — — (1,218) (1,218)
Charge to equity for equity settled share-based payments  — — — 954 — — 954

Balance at 31 December 2007 (restated)  6,285 10,146 (4,465) 4,051 935 20,550 37,502

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   19 12/04/2010   17:00:36



38   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

consolidated Balance sheet as at 31 December 2009

    2009 2008 2007 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 
   Note  (restated) (restated)

Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment  16 14,513 12,667 11,849
Goodwill  14 720 720 720
Other intangible assets  15 5,108 6,650 7,294
Investments  18 1,261 1,900 2,020
Deferred tax asset  22 200 239 322

    21,802 22,176 22,205

Current assets   
Inventories  19 5,766 7,269 4,137
Trade and other receivables  20 7,554 7,678 8,393
Cash and cash equivalents   20 11,521 11,601 13,036
Derivative financial instruments  21 47 704 261

     24,888 27,252 25,827

Total assets    46,690 49,428 48,032

Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables  24  (5,435)  (6,031) (6,728)
Other financial liabilities  25  (224)  (210) (198)
Current tax liabilities   (417)  (428) (705)
Obligations under finance leases  23 — — (245)
Provisions  26  (2,408)  (528) (193)
Derivative financial instruments  21 —  (352) —

      (8,484)  (7,549) (8,069)

Net current assets    16,404 19,703 17,758

Non-current liabilities     
Deferred tax liabilities  22 (765)  (2,260) (1,810)
Other financial liabilities  25  (217)  (441) (651)

Total non-current liabilities   (982) (2,701) (2,461)

Total liabilities      (9,466)  (10,250) (10,530)

Net assets     37,224 39,178 37,502

Equity   
Share capital  27 6,351 6,350 6,285
Share premium   28 10,525 10,525 10,146
Own shares   29  (4,465)  (4,465) (4,465)
Other reserves   31 3,140 3,919 4,051
Hedging and translation reserves  30 904 1,335 935
Retained earnings  31 20,769 21,514 20,550

Equity attributable to shareholders    37,224 39,178 37,502

Total equity     37,224 39,178 37,502

The financial statements of Xaar plc, registered number 3320972, were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 1 April 2010.

They were signed on its behalf by:

ian dinwoodie   andRew tayloR
diRectoR   diRectoR
1 april 2010
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consolidated cash flow statement for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

     2009 2008 
    Note £’000 £’000

Net cash from operating activities    32  6,979  4,228

Investing activities     
Investment income    81 457
Purchases of property, plant and equipment      (5,172)  (3,307)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment     — 75
Expenditure on capitalised product development     (185)  (854)

Net cash used in investing activities      (5,276)  (3,629)

Financing activities     
Dividends paid      (1,545)  (2,148)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital      —  444
Finance costs     —   (57)
Repayments of borrowings     (210)  (198)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases     —   (259)

Net cash used in financing activities     (1,755)  (2,218)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (52)  (1,619)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes     (28) 184
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    11,601 13,036

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    11,521 11,601
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notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

1. geneRal infoRmation
Xaar plc (the company) is incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on the inside 
back cover. The nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the directors’ report on page 19. 

2. key souRces of estimation unceRtainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are as follows:

asset valuations
Throughout the year, management considers the carrying value of both debtors and inventory balances. Provisions against both balances are made on the 
basis of past losses, current trading patterns and anticipated future events. 

pRovisions
Throughout the year, management considers the potential liability arising from product warranty claims; provisions for warranty claims are made based 
on the basis of past losses and anticipated future events. Management also provides for restructuring as described in Note 26. 

impaiRment of goodwill  
The group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the ‘value in use’ of the cash-generating units 
to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value in use amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the 
cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill 
at 31 December 2009 was £720,000 (2008: £720,000). Further details are given in Note 14.

impaiRment of tRade investments
The group determines whether its trade investments are impaired at least on an annual basis. Unquoted investments are evaluated against the opportunity 
for return through trading gains through continuing to hold the investment. The carrying amount of trade investments at 31 December 2009 was £1,261,000 
(2008: £1,900,000). Further details are given in Note 18.

3. significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted for use in the European Union.

The financial information has been prepared on the basis of all applicable IFRS, including all International Accounting Standards (IAS), Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC) interpretations and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) that are applicable to the financial period, as adopted by the European Union.  

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments. The group financial statements 
are presented in sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£’000) except when otherwise indicated.  

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.  

Basis of consolidation  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the company (its subsidiaries) made 
up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.  

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition 
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.   

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by the group. 
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.  

going conceRn
The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are set out in the review of operations 
on pages 8 to 11. Notes 20, 21 and 25 include a description of the group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The group has considerable financial resources and through a diverse customer base is exposed not only to the western economies but also China, India 
and Latin America. As a consequence, the directors believe that the group is well placed to manage its business risks successfully despite the continuing 
uncertain economic outlook.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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3. significant accounting policies continued
Business comBinations  
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method.  

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the 
group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

goodwill  
Goodwill arising on consolidation is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill which is recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement 
and is not subsequently reversed.  

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication 
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of the cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being tested for 
impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any 
subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided 
in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes, but gross of any tax withheld.

Sales of goods are recognised when goods are despatched, except for our largest customer where recognition criteria are met when goods are delivered 
and title has passed.

Development fees gained from joint development agreements are treated as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs. 
Funding received for internally-generated intangible assets is recognised on a straight-line basis to match the amortisation period of the related intangible 
fixed asset. 

Royalties are recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the actual revenue trend in the most recent quarterly statements received from 
each licensee.

Revenue from the sale of licences is recognised once the licence has been delivered to the customer and acceptance criteria achieved.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease, even if the payments are not made 
on such a basis.

foReign cuRRencies
The individual financial statements of each group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates 
(its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each group company are expressed 
in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary assets and liabilities, and on the retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities, are included 
in the income statement for the period.

In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the group enters into forward contracts (see overleaf for details of the group’s accounting 
policies in respect of such derivative financial instruments).
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3. significant accounting policies continued
foReign cuRRencies continued
For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations are translated at the exchange 
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences 
arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses 
in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
at the closing rate. The group has elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS as sterling 
denominated assets and liabilities. 

goveRnment gRants
Government grants relating to research and development are treated as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs. Government 
grants relating to property, plant and equipment are treated as deferred income and released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the assets concerned. 

opeRating pRofit
Operating profit is stated before investment income and finance costs.

RetiRement Benefit costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement 
benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those 
arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.

taXation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes 
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability 
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where the group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.   

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or 
credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis and are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on a net basis. 

pRopeRty, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are shown at original historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. 

Assets in the course of construction for production or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation of these 
assets, on the same basis as other assets in the same class, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than assets in the course of construction, over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 

Leasehold improvements  ten years

Plant and machinery    three–five years

Furniture, fittings and equipment  three–five years 

Motor vehicles    three years
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3. significant accounting policies continued
pRopeRty, plant and equipment continued
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, over the term 
of the relevant lease.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and is recognised in income. 

inteRnally-geneRated intangiBle assets – ReseaRch and development eXpendituRe
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

In accordance with IAS 38 “Intangible assets” where a project has entered the development phase and is sufficiently self contained that the expected 
future economic benefits can be traced directly to the assets developed within the project; it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that 
are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, the development costs related to the project will be 
capitalised as an intangible asset.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

otheR intangiBle assets
Costs incurred in maintaining the patent and trademark portfolio are written off to the income statement as incurred. 

Payments in respect of software, external product development costs and licence rights acquired are capitalised at cost and amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives.

impaiRment of tangiBle and intangiBle assets eXcluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

inventoRies
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour costs and an attributable proportion 
of manufacturing overheads based on normal levels of activity that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and 
distribution. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where applicable.  

financial instRuments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or less’ (FVTPL), ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, 
‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purposes of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

tRade ReceivaBles
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. 

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   25 12/04/2010   17:00:37



44   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

3. significant accounting policies continued
investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where a purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of 
the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, equating to cost, including transaction costs.

Investments are classified as available-for-sale, and on the basis that the investments have no active market and their fair values cannot be reliably determined 
using valuation techniques, the investments are carried at cost.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity investment that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably 
measured, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash with an original maturity of three months or less and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

financial liaBilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any 
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial 
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

inteRest-BeaRing loans and BoRRowings
Interest-bearing loans and bank overdrafts are measured initially at fair value, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums payable on 
settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted for on an accrual basis in the income statement using the effective interest rate method 
and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.  

tRade payaBles
Trade payables are measured at original cost.   

equity instRuments
Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

deRivative financial instRuments and hedge accounting  
The group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates and liquidity risk. 

The group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily foreign currency forward contracts) to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations 
relating to certain firm commitments and forecasted transactions. 

The group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from its funds invested in short term bank deposits. To mitigate these risks, limits have been set by the board in 
relation to maturity period and maximum deposits with any one institution. 

In order to mitigate the group’s liquidity risks, the policy is to fund significant fixed asset purchases by finance leases repayable over a period of three to five 
years dependent on the individual asset being financed and interest-bearing loans. 

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provides written principles on the use of 
financial derivatives consistent with the group’s risk management strategy. The group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the contract date and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash flows are recognised directly in equity 
and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecasted transaction results in 
the recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had previously 
been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability. For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability, 
amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in the same period in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss. Changes in fair 
value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
At that time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction occurs. If a 
hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is transferred to net profit or loss for the period. 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics are 
not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not carried at fair value, with gains or losses reported in the income statement.

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   26 12/04/2010   17:00:37



annual report and accounts 2009   Xaar plc   45   

our business governance financial statements

3. significant accounting policies continued
pRovisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the group will be required to settle 
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the balance sheet date 
and are discounted where the effect of the time value of money is material.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in 
those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan, or announcing its main features to those affected by it, and the plan has 
reached a stage where the decision is unlikely to be reversed. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from 
the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity.

Provisions for the expected cost of warranty obligations under local sale of goods legislation are recognised in the month of sale of the relevant products, 
at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the group’s obligation.

shaRe-Based payments
The group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 “Share-based payment”. In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 2 has been applied to 
all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested at 1 January 2005.

The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. These payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of 
non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the group’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the 
effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

The fair value of options issued under the group’s long term incentive plan is measured using a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binominal) model. The fair value of all 
other equity-settled share-based payments is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The expected life used in these models has been adjusted, 
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.  

own shaRes
Own shares are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the group’s 
own shares.

new standaRds and inteRpRetations
applied  
In the current financial year, the group has adopted IFRS 2 (amended) “Share-based payment – vesting conditions and cancellations”, IAS 1 “Presentation 
of Financial Statements” (revised 2007), Amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments”, and IFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

The amendments to IFRS 2 require, amongst other things, the acceleration of share-based payment charges relating to employees who cease to contribute 
to a SAYE scheme. The application of this Standard has not required a restatement of comparative periods.

The main change affecting Xaar as a result of adopting IAS 1 (revised) requires the presentation of a statement of changes in equity as a primary statement, 
separate from the income statement and statement of comprehensive income. As a result, a consolidated statement of changes in equity has been included 
as a primary statement, showing changes in each component of equity for each period presented.

The amendment to IFRS 7 introduces a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement disclosures and requires entities to provide additional disclosures 
about the relative reliability of fair value measurements, to help to improve comparability between entities about the effects of fair value measurements. 
In addition, the amendments clarify and enhance the existing requirements for the disclosure of liquidity risk. This is aimed at ensuring that the information 
disclosed enables users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity risk arising from financial instruments and how the 
entity manages that risk. No comparative disclosures are required for the first year of application. 

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the group that are regularly reviewed by the 
Chief Executive to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance. In contrast, the predecessor Standard (IAS 14 “Segment Reporting”) 
required the group to identify two sets of segments (business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the group’s system of internal 
financial reporting to key management personnel serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments. The adoption of this standard has 
resulted in no changes in the group’s reportable segments.
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3. significant accounting policies continued
new standaRds and inteRpRetations continued
StandardS not affecting the reported reSultS nor the financial poSition
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period. Their adoption has not had any significant impact on 
the amounts reported in these financial statements but may impact the accounting for future transactions and arrangements.

IAS 38 (amended) Intangible Assets

IAS 40 (amended) Investment Property

IAS 20 (amended) Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance

IAS 23 (revised 2007) Borrowing Costs

IAS 32 (amended)/IAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

IAS 39 (amended) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, Eligible Hedged Items

IFRIC 9 (amended)/ IAS 39 (amended) Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not yet been applied in these financial 
statements were in issue but not yet effective (and in some cases, had not yet been adopted by the EU):

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirements

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

IFRS 2 (amended) Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

IFRS 1 (amended) Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

IAS 32 (amended) Classification of Rights Issues

IAS 24 (amended) Related Party Disclosures, Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements 
of the group.
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4. Restatement of pRioR peRiods
The financial statements include a restatement of the prior year balance sheet in relation to the accounting treatment of tax in the group for prior periods. 

The adjustment predominantly relates to the accounting for untaxed reserves in the Swedish subsidiary and has no impact on the Income Statement 
or Cash Flow Statement.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income is presented for the first time in 2009.

Outlined below are the corrections made for each financial statement line item affected.

  31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 1 January 1 January 1 January 
  2008 2008 2008 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 
  as reported adjustment restated as reported adjustment restated as reported adjustment restated 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current assets         
Trade and other receivables 7,796 (118) 7,678 8,511 (118) 8,393 6,135 (113) 6,022

Total current assets 27,370 (118) 27,252 25,945 (118) 25,827 22,263 (113) 22,150

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  (5,997)  (34)  (6,031)  (6,711)  (17)  (6,728)  (7,928)  (15)  (7,943)

Current tax liabilities  (1,321)  893   (428)  (1,246)  541   (705)  (507)  377   (130)

Total current liabilities  (8,408)  859   (7,549)  (8,593)  524   (8,069)  (9,297)  362   (8,935)

Net assets  38,437 741 39,178 37,096 406 37,502 33,253 249 33,502

Equity
Hedging and translation reserves 594 741 1335 529 406 935 593 304 897

Retained earnings 21,514 — 21,514 20,550 — 20,550 17,113 (55) 17,058

Equity attributable to shareholders 38,437 741 39,178 37,096 406 37,502 33,253 249 33,502

Total equity  38,437 741 39,178 37,096 406 37,502 33,253 249 33,502

5. Revenue
An analysis of the group’s revenue is as follows:

          2009 2008 
        Note  £’000  £’000

Sales of goods         36,655 37,511
Development fees         745 605
Licence fees and royalties         4,673 3,901

          42,073 42,017
Investment income       9 117 450

          42,190 42,467
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6. Business and geogRaphical segments
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues.

In the current financial year, the group has adopted IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” as required. Adoption of IFRS 8 has resulted in no changes in the group’s 
reportable segments. For management reporting purposes, the group’s operations are currently analysed according to product type. These product groups 
comprise the group’s operating segments for the purposes of reporting to the group’s Chief Executive Officer and board of directors.

Principal product groups are as follows:

• printheads and related products;

• development fees; and

• licence fees and royalties.

Segment information about these product types is presented below and the nature of these product groups is discussed in more detail in the review of operations.

      Printheads   Licence 
      and related  Development fees and 
      products fees  royalties Unallocated Consolidated 
Year ended 31 December 2009    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue        

Total segment revenue      36,655 745 4,673 — 42,073

Result      
Underlying operating (loss)/profit      (1,559) 34 4,007 — 2,482
Restructuring costs     — — —  (2,686)  (2,686)
Impairment of trade investments     — — —  (639)  (639)
Foreign exchange loss on Swedish kronor denominated intercompany loans   — — —  (157)  (157)
Loss on derivative financial instruments     — — —  (46)  (46)
Share-based payments      — — —  779   779 

Operating (loss)/segment result       (1,559)  34   4,007   (2,749)  (267)

Investment income    9 — — — 117 117
Finance costs    10 — — —  (36)  (36)

(Loss)/profit before tax       (1,559)  34   4,007   (2,668)  (186)

Investment income and finance costs are not allocated to reportable segments for the purposes of reporting to the group’s Chief Executive Officer and board 
of directors.

      Printheads   Licence 
      and related  Development fees and 
      products fees  royalties Unallocated Consolidated 
Year ended 31 December 2008    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue      

Total segment revenue      37,511 605 3,901 — 42,017

Result      
Underlying operating (loss)/profit      (903) (75) 3,389 — 2,411
Restructuring costs     — — —  (553)  (553)
Impairment of trade investments     — — —  (120)  (120)
Foreign exchange gain on Swedish kronor denominated intercompany loans   — — —  1,829   1,829 
Gain on derivative financial instruments     — — —  260   260 
Share-based payments      — — —  132   132 

Operating (loss)/segment result       (903)  (75)  3,389   1,548   3,959 

Investment income    9 — — — 450 450
Finance costs    10 — — —  (57)  (57)

(Loss)/profit before tax       (903)  (75)  3,389   1,941   4,352 
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6. Business and geogRaphical segments continued
segment assets
          2009 
          £’000

Printheads and related products         33,364
Development fees         1
Licence fees and royalties         543

Total segment assets         33,908
Investments         1,261
Cash and cash equivalents          11,521

Total assets         46,690

Assets are allocated to the segment which has responsibility for their control.

          2008 
          £’000

Printheads and related products         35,048
Development fees         457
Licence fees and royalties         422

Total segment assets         35,927
Investments         1,900
Cash and cash equivalents          11,601

Total assets         49,428

No information is provided for segment liabilities as this measure is not provided to the chief operating decision maker.  

otheR segment infoRmation
      Printheads   Licence 
      and related  Development fees and 
      products fees  royalties Unallocated Consolidated 
Year ended 31 December 2009    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets    15,16 3,035 — 1,727 — 4,762
Share option expense     — — —  (779)  (779)
Capital expenditure    16 5,004 — — — 5,004
Asset impairment    18 — — —  (639)  (639)

      Printheads   Licence 
      and related  Development fees and 
      products fees  royalties Unallocated Consolidated 
Year ended 31 December 2008    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets    15,16 3,844 460 57 — 4,361
Share option expense     — — —  (132)  (132)
Capital expenditure    16 3,527 — — — 3,527
Asset impairment    18 — — —  (120)  (120)

Revenues fRom majoR pRoducts and seRvices
          2009 2008 
           £’000  £’000

Sales of goods         36,655 37,511
Development fees         745 605
Licence fees and royalties          4,673 3,901

Consolidated revenue (excluding investment income)        42,073 42,017
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6. Business and geogRaphical segments continued
geogRaphical infoRmation
The group operates in three principal geographical areas – Europe and the Middle East, the Americas and Asia. The group’s revenue from external customers 
and information about its segments (non-current assets excluding deferred tax assets and other financial assets) by geographical location is detailed below:

         Revenue from  
         external customers 

         2009 2008 
           £’000  £’000

Europe and the Middle East        12,800 14,819
Asia : 
– India        4,121 4,661
– Japan        4,858 4,116
– China        12,100 10,431
– Korea        1,346 1,053
The Americas (including USA)        6,848 6,937

          42,073 42,017

Revenues are attributed to geographical areas on the basis of the customer’s manufacturing location.   

         Non-current assets 

         2009 2008 
          £’000  £’000

Europe and the Middle East        21,737 22,092
Asia         45 56
The Americas (including USA)        20 28

          21,802 22,176

Non-current assets being property, plant and equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, investments and the deferred tax asset, are attributed to the 
location where they are situated.

infoRmation aBout majoR customeRs
Included in revenues arising from sales of goods are revenues of approximately £11.3m (27% of revenues) (2008: £7.0m, 17% of revenues) which arose from 
sales to the group’s largest customer. In the year ended 31 December 2009 revenues of approximately £3.4m (8% of revenues) were included in both the 
sale of goods and licence fees and royalties which arose from sales to the group’s second largest customer. In 2008, only the largest customer of the group 
exceeded 10% of revenue in the period. Revenue from the top five customers represents 44% of revenues (2008: 33%).

7. pRofit foR the yeaR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

         2009 2008 
          £’000 £’000

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains)        489  (2,111)
Research and development costs        4,595  4,477 
Government grants towards research and development       201  (170)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment        3,035  3,010 
Amortisation of internally-generated intangible assets included in administrative expenses     1,369  960 
Amortisation of other intangible assets included in administrative expenses      358  391 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment        12 —
Cost of inventories recognised as expense        11,680  10,495 
Impairment of inventories         317  213 
Impairment of other financial assets         264  200 
Reversal of impairment losses recognised on trade receivables       (12)  (100)
Impairment of trade investments        639  120 
Auditors’ remuneration        198 250 
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7. pRofit foR the yeaR continued
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the company’s annual accounts     17 17
Fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the group    
The audit of the company’s subsidiaries        59 80

Total audit fees        76 97

– Interim review        18 20
– Tax services        101 133
– Recruitment and remuneration services        3 —

Total non-audit fees        122 153

Total fees payable to the company’s auditors and their associates      198 250

The fees relating to Deloitte in the year were £76,000 for audit fees and £122,000 for non-audit services (2008: £133,000 for non-audit fees). The audit fees 
for 2008 relate to the outgoing auditors, Ernst and Young.

The audit committee has considered the independence of the auditors in relation to non-audit services throughout the year. A description of the work 
of the audit committee is set out in the corporate governance statement on pages 24 to 26 and includes an explanation of how auditors’ objectivity and 
independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditors.

8. staff costs
The average monthly number of persons employed by the group including executive directors was as follows:

          2009 2008 
         Number  Number

Research and development         52 66
Sales and marketing         30 37
Manufacturing and engineering         208 195
Administration         28 31

          318 329

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

          2009 2008 
        Note  £’000  £’000

Wages and salaries         10,153 11,616
Social security costs        1,693 2,171
Other pension costs       35 690 775
Share-based payments        (779)  (132)

          11,757 14,430

9. investment income
          2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Interest receivable on cash and bank balances        117 450
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10. finance costs
          2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts        36 48
Interest on obligations under finance leases        — 9

          36 57

11. taX
          2009 2008 
        Note  £’000  £’000

Current tax – UK        371 796
Current tax – overseas        193 141

          564 937
Amounts overprovided in previous years         (192)  (18)

Total current income tax         372 919

Deferred tax         (1,036)  (159)
Adjustment in respect of prior years         79 161

Total deferred tax charge       22 (957)  2 

Total tax expense for the year        (585) 921

The standard rate of tax for the year, based on the UK standard rate of corporation tax is 28%. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing 
in the respective jurisdictions.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit per the income statement as follows:

          2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax        (186) 4,352

Tax on ordinary activities at standard rate of 28% (2008: 28%)       (52) 1,219
Effect of:  
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes        350 70
Effect of different tax rates        — 2
Enhanced tax deduction for research and development expenditure      (770)  (531)
Effect of change in UK corporation tax rate        — 18
Prior period adjustments        (113) 143

Total tax (credit)/expense for the year        (585) 921

The effective tax rate for the year is 314.6% (2008: 21.2%).

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   34 12/04/2010   17:00:37



annual report and accounts 2009   Xaar plc   53   

our business governance financial statements

12. dividends
          2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:       
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 1.5p (2007: 2.5p) per share     927 1,530
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of 1.0p (2008: 1.0p) per share      618  618

Total distributions to equity holders in the year        1,545 2,148

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of 1.5p (2008: 1.5p) per share    953 953

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.

13. eaRnings peR oRdinaRy shaRe – Basic and diluted
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

          2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Earnings          
Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent   399 3,431

Number of shares         
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share     61,797,389 61,458,643
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:         
Share options        130,116 526,969

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share    61,927,505 61,985,612

Share options granted over 2,610,156 shares (2008: 2,181,953) have not been included in the diluted earnings per share calculation because they are 
anti-dilutive at the period end.

The performance conditions for LTIP awards granted over 2,058,381 shares (2008: 857,491) and share options granted over 668,859 shares (2008: 292,000) 
have not been met in the current financial period and therefore the dilutive effect of the number of shares which would have been issued at the period end 
has not been included in the diluted earnings per share calculation.

adjusted eaRnings peR shaRe  
The calculation of adjusted EPS excluding restructuring costs, impairment of trade investments and share-based payments is based on earnings of: 

         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000 
          (restated)

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share being net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent   399 3,431
Restructuring costs         2,686   553 
Impairment of trade investments         639   120 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on Swedish kronor denominated intercompany loans      157   (1,829)
Gain/(loss) on derivative financial instruments         46   (260)
Share-based payments         (779)  (132)
Tax effect of adjusting items         (770)  433 

Profit after tax excluding restructuring costs, impairment of trade investments and share-based payments     2,378   2,316 

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings per share.  

Earnings per share excluding restructuring costs, impairment of trade investments and share-based payments:
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000 
          (restated)

Basic        3.8p 3.8p
Diluted        3.8p 3.7p

This adjusted earnings per share information is considered to provide a fairer representation of the group’s trading performance year on year.  
  

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   35 12/04/2010   17:00:37



54   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

14. goodwill
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2009 was £720,000 (2008: £720,000). There were no accumulated impairment losses at the end of the year.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit from that business 
combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

        2009  2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Printheads and related products (a single CGU)       720 720 720

The group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined from a value in use calculation. The key assumptions to which the value in use calculation is most sensitive 
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period.

The group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the next four years and these have 
been used in the value in use calculation. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 11% (2008: 12%) and reflects management’s estimate 
of return on capital employed. No growth rate has been applied in the extrapolation of cash flows beyond the four year forecasts.

Having performed impairment testing, no impairment has been identified, and therefore no impairment loss has been recognised in either period.

15. otheR intangiBle assets
      Internally-     
      generated Other    
      product product     
       development development Licences   
      costs  costs  acquired  Software Total 
      £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000

Cost         
At 1 January 2007     4,565 2,932 533 817 8,847
Additions     — 1,100 — 484 1,584

At 1 January 2008     4,565 4,032 533 1,301 10,431
Additions     — 577 — 130 707

At 1 January 2009     4,565 4,609 533 1,431 11,138
Additions     — — — 185 185

At 31 December 2009     4,565 4,609 533 1,616 11,323

Amortisation         
At 1 January 2007     564 460 361 432 1,817
Charge for the year     1,038 — 58 224 1,320

At 1 January 2008     1,602 460 419 656 3,137
Charge for the year      960 58 57 276 1,351

At 1 January 2009     2,562 518 476 932 4,488
Charge for the year      960 409 57 301 1,727

At 31 December 2009     3,522 927 533 1,233 6,215

Carrying amount          
At 31 December 2009     1,043 3,682 — 383 5,108

At 31 December 2008     2,003 4,091 57 499 6,650

At 31 December 2007     2,963 3,572 114 645 7,294

The amortisation period for software and development costs incurred on the group’s product development is three years.

Internally-generated product development costs relate to the Platform 2 and Platform 3 ranges of printheads. The amortisation periods of these costs 
are five years.

Licences acquired are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is on average nine years.

At 31 December 2009 the group had entered into no contractual commitments for the acquisition of other product development costs (2008: £nil).
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16. pRopeRty, plant and equipment
       Furniture, Assets in the    
     Leasehold Plant and fittings and course of Motor  
     property machinery equipment construction vehicles Total 
     £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Cost         
At 1 January 2007    2,482 15,041 1,446 7,302 14 26,285
Additions    8 1,246 102 1,307 — 2,663
Transfers    124 6,020 37 (6,181) — —
Exchange movements    64 381 14 78 — 537
Disposals    — (11) — (4) — (15)

At 1 January 2008    2,678 22,677 1,599 2,502 14 29,470
Additions     287 1,583 167 1,463 27 3,527
Transfers     17 1,291 187  (1,495) — —
Exchange movements     246 1,322 47 44 — 1,659
Disposals      (6)  (160)  (6) —  (10) (182)

At 1 January 2009    3,222 26,713 1,994 2,514 31 34,474
Additions     19 396 109 4,480 — 5,004
Transfers     — 1,802 —  (1,802) — —
Exchange movements      (34)  (310)  (7) (26) — (377)
Disposals     —  (42) — — — (42)

At 31 December 2009     3,207 28,559 2,096 5,166 31 39,059

Depreciation         
At 1 January 2007    1,732 11,345 1,204 — 14 14,295
Charge for year    321 2,376 198 — — 2,895
Exchange movements    59 361 14 — — 434
Disposals    — (3) — — — (3)

At 1 January 2008    2,112 14,079 1,416 — 14 17,621
Charge for the year    339 2,442 221 — 8 3,010
Exchange movements     185 1,074 42 — — 1,298
Disposals      (2)  (106)  (4) —  (10) (122)

At 1 January 2009    2,634 17,486 1,675 — 12 21,807
Charge for the year    242 2,584 200 — 9 3,035
Exchange movements      (21)  (244)  (5) — — (270)
Disposals     —  (26) — — — (26)

At 31 December 2009     2,855 19,800 1,870 — 21 24,546

Carrying amount         
At 31 December 2009     352 8,759 226 5,166 10 14,513

At 31 December 2008    588 9,227 319 2,514 19 12,667

At 31 December 2007    566 8,598 183 2,502 — 11,849

Leased assets included in the above:         
Carrying amount         
At 31 December 2009    — 2 — — — 2

At 31 December 2008    — 3 1 — — 4

At 31 December 2007    — 108 1 — — 109

At 31 December 2009 the group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting to £2,287,000 
(2008: £457,000).
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17. suBsidiaRies
A list of the investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given in Note 11 to the company’s 
separate financial statements.

18. investments
         2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Trading investments         
At beginning of year        1,900 2,020 1,931
Additions       — — 89
Impairment loss recognised in the year        (639)  (120) —

At end of year       1,261 1,900 2,020

These unquoted investments represent investments in companies that present the group with opportunity for return through trading gains.

The charge for the impairment of a trade investment represents £0.6m in relation to a US based printing technology integration company that ceased trading 
in August 2009. The full value of this investment has therefore been recognised as an impairment loss in the income statement in the year, within administrative expenses.

19. inventoRies
         2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Raw materials and consumables        2,325 2,520 2,408
Work in progress        1,202 768 593
Finished goods        2,239 3,981 1,136

         5,766 7,269 4,137

20. otheR financial assets
The fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value.

tRade and otheR ReceivaBles
        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000 
         (restated)  (restated)

Amount receivable for the sale of goods       5,487 6,394 6,678
Allowance for doubtful debts        (488)  (422) (560)

        4,999 5,972 6,118
Other debtors       737 221 717
Prepayments       1,818 1,485 1,558

        7,554 7,678 8,393

No amounts are expected to be settled in more than twelve months.
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20. otheR financial assets continued
tRade ReceivaBles
The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 43 days (2008: 52 days). No interest is charged on the receivables for the period agreed in the Requirements 
Contract or, if not specified or applicable, the first 30 days from the date of the invoice. Thereafter, the group reserves the right to charge interest at a daily 
rate of the greater of either 3% per annum above the base rate of Barclays Bank plc from time to time, or the maximum rate of interest allowable under the 
Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, on all sums outstanding until payment in full is received. The group has provided fully for all receivables 
over 120 days because historical experience is such that receivables that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable. Trade receivables 
between 30 days and 120 days are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past 
default experience.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets as disclosed on page 56.

Before accepting any new customer, the group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit 
limits by customer. Credit limits are reviewed at least once per year. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, £2.9m (2008: £2.9m) is due 
from customers representing 33% (2008: 31%) of the group’s revenue. There are no other customers who represent more than 5% of the total balance 
of trade receivables.

Included in the group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £1.7m (2008: £1.5m) which are past due at the reporting date for which 
the group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. Of these amounts, 
the group is in possession of letters of credit to the value of £20,000 (2008: £45,000) which had not reached maturity as at the reporting date. The group does not 
hold any other collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 43 days (2008: 25 days).

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

0–30 days overdue       1,165 1,218 1,811
30–60 days overdue       50 138 708
60–90 days overdue       74 82 12
90–120 days overdue       161 75 —
Over 120 days overdue       218 — —

Total       1,668 1,513 2,531

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at the beginning of the year        (422)  (560) (615)
Impairment losses recognised        (264)  (200) (183)
Amounts written off as uncollectible       186 238 238
Amounts recovered during the year       12 100 —

Balance at the end of the year        (488)  (422) (560)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit 
was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, 
the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
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20. otheR financial assets continued
tRade ReceivaBles continued
Ageing of impaired trade receivables:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

0–30 days        — 16 —
30–60 days       — — 5
60–90 days       44 — 30
90–120 days       18 88 1
120+ days       426 318 524

Total       488 422 560

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the group and short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying 
amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash       11,521 11,601 12,036
Short term deposits       — — 1,000

        11,521 11,601 13,036

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned 
by international credit rating agencies.

21. financial instRuments
categoRies of financial instRuments
Financial assets of £7,554,000 (2008: £7,678,000) are categorised as loans and receivables and £47,000 (2008: £704,000) as derivative instruments 
in designated hedge accounting relationships. Financial liabilities of £8,701,000 (2008: £7,638,000) are categorised as measured at amortised cost and 
nil (2008: £752,000) as derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships. 

financial Risk management oBjectives
The group’s policy is to manage the group’s financial risk, secure cost effective funding for the group’s operations and to minimise the adverse effects 
of fluctuations in the financial markets on the value of the group’s financial assets and liabilities, on reported profitability and on the cash flows of the group. 

The group finances its activities with a combination of bank loans, finance leases, cash and short term deposits as deemed appropriate. Other financial 
assets and liabilities, such as trade debtors and trade creditors, arise directly from the group’s operating activities. The group also enters into derivative 
transactions – forward currency contracts. The purpose is to manage the currency risks arising from the group’s operations. It is and has been throughout 
2009 and 2008 the group’s policy that no trading in derivatives shall be undertaken.

Financial instruments give rise to foreign currency, interest rate, credit and liquidity risk. The group’s management of its exposure to credit risk is discussed 
in Note 20 and to liquidity risk is discussed in Note 25.

inteRest Rate Risk
The group’s policy is to manage its cost of borrowing using fixed rate debt. Whilst fixed rate interest bearing debt is not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, 
there is no opportunity for the group to enjoy a reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling. In addition, the fair value risk inherent in fixed 
rate borrowing means that the group is exposed to unplanned costs should debt be restructured or repaid early as part of the liquidity management process.

The sensitivity analysis prepared below relates to cash balances, since borrowings are at fixed rates of interest. The closing cash balance at the year end 
has been used as the basis for the calculations. A 2% increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change 
in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 2% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 would  
increase/decrease by £0.2m (2008: £0.2m). This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest rates on its cash balances. There would be 
no effect on equity reserves.
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21. financial instRuments continued
foReign cuRRency Risk
The group has a manufacturing facility in Sweden which necessitates the need for the group to convert sterling into Swedish kronor in order to fund the 
running costs of this manufacturing facility. The group also receives approximately 18% of its revenues in US dollars, which is partially naturally hedged by 
supplies in this currency, but the remainder requires conversion into sterling in order to fund the remaining costs of the UK offices. The group therefore 
enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk resulting from transactions in Swedish kronor, US dollars and euros. The following table demonstrates 
the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the sterling exchange rate against the relevant foreign currencies on the group’s profit before tax 
and equity (due to changes in the fair vale of monetary assets, liabilities and forward currency contracts). 10% represents management’s assessment of 
the reasonably possible movement in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and 
adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes inter-company balances within the group 
where the denomination of the balance is in a currency other than the functional currency of the debtor or the creditor. A positive number below indicates an 
increase in profit or equity.

The following table demonstrates the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the sterling exchange rate against the relevant foreign currencies 
on the group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets, liabilities and forward currency contracts). 10% represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible movement in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes inter-company 
balances within the group where the denomination of the balance is in a currency other than the functional currency of the debtor or the creditor. A positive 
number below indicates an increase in profit.

 Swedish kronor  US dollar  Euro 
 currency impact  currency impact  currency impact

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Effect of a 10% increase in relevant exchange rate on:        
Profit or loss    (675)  (557) (178)  (132) (181)  (67)
Other equity    (328)  (64) 10 608 — —
Effect of a 10% decrease in relevant exchange rate on:        
Profit or loss    825 681 217 161 221 82
Other equity    396 78 (12)  (656) — —

foRwaRd foReign eXchange contRacts
The group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows. The group is party to a variety of foreign currency forward 
contracts and options in the management of its exchange rate exposures. The instruments purchased are primarily denominated in the currencies of the 
group’s principal markets.

At the balance sheet date, the total notional amount of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contract that the group has committed is as below:

       2009 2009 2008 2008 
       SEK’000 USD’000 SEK’000 USD’000

Forward foreign exchange contract      — 3,000 180,000 9,000

At 31 December 2009, the fair value of the group’s currency derivative is £47,000 (2008: £352,000). This forward currency contract matures prior to 
30 June 2010. These derivatives were all designated and effective as cash flow hedges and were deferred in equity at the year end. The movement in the 
fair value of the group’s currency derivatives outstanding as at 31 December 2009, amounting to £47,000, has been booked through the income statement 
(cost of sales).

The group does not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument for the purpose of hedging the translation 
of its foreign operations.

_2_XAA_ar09_back.indd   41 12/04/2010   17:00:38



60   Xaar plc   annual report and accounts 2009

notes to the consolidated financial statements continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

21. financial instRuments continued
foRwaRd foReign eXchange contRacts continued
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 based 
on contractual undiscounted payments.

 2009  2008

   Less than 3 to 12 1 to 2  Less than 3 to 12 1 to 2  
   3 months months years Total 3 months months years Total 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Gross settled receipts         
US dollar  26 40 — 66  929  2,786  1,858  5,573 
Swedish kronor  — — — —  5,026  10,062  —  15,088 

   26 40 — 66  5,955   12,848   1,858   20,661 

Gross settled payments         
US dollar  (4) (15) —  (19)   (987)  (2,963)  (1,975)  (5,925)
Swedish kronor  — — —  —  (4,792) (9,592) —  (14,384)

   (4) (15) — (19)  (5,779) (12,555)  (1,975)  (20,309)

capital Risk management
The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support 
its business, maximise shareholder value and provide flexibility for value enhancing investments. The group manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions or as a result of corporate strategy. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may 
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. In addition, any potential value enhancing investments 
may be funded through additional debt instruments. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the current or prior year.

The group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is determined as the proportion of debt to equity. Debt is defined as long and short term borrowings, 
including obligations under finance leases as detailed in Notes 25 and 23. Equity includes all capital and reserves of the group attributable to the equity 
holders of the parent. The group’s policy for its existing business is to use debt where appropriate, whilst maintaining the gearing ratio at a level under 10%.

The gearing ratio at the year end is as follows:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans       (441)  (651) (849)
Obligations under finance lease and hire purchase contracts      — — (245)

Net debt       (441)   (651) (1,094)
Equity       37,224 39,178 37,502
Gearing ratio       1% 2% 3%

The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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22. defeRRed taX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting period:

            Other  
    Accelerated tax Cash flow  Share-based  Untaxed Tax temporary  
    depreciation hedges payment reserves losses difference Total 
    £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007   319 — (1,212) 1,094 (722) 773 252
Charge/(credit) to income   111 — (286) (124) 646 (302) 45
Debit to current tax    — — 445 — — — 445
Charge to equity   10 — 643 93 — — 746

At 1 January 2008    440   —   (410)  1,063   (76)  471   1,488 
Charge/(credit) to income    132   (28)  37   (177)  76   (38)  2 
Debit to current tax    —   —   83   —   —   —   83 
Charge/(credit) to equity    —   127   264   68   —   (11)  448 

At 1 January 2009   572 99  (26) 954 — 422 2,021
Charge/(credit) to income   72 13 218 (592) — (668) (957)
Charge to equity   — (98) (401) — — — (499)

At 31 December 2009   644 14  (209) 362 — (246) 565

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax liabilities       765 2,260 1,810
Deferred tax assets       (200)  (239) (322)

        565 2,021 1,488

At 31 December 2009, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with the undistributed earnings of overseas subsidiaries for which 
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £20,689,000 (2008: £21,296,000 (restated, refer to Note 4)). No liability has been recognised in respect 
of these differences because the group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

23. oBligations undeR finance leases 
        Minimum lease payments 

         2009  2008  2007  
        £’000  £’000  £’000

Amounts payable under finance leases: 
Within one year        —  —  245

Less: amount due for settlement within twelve months (shown under current liabilities)    —  —  (245)

The amounts included above are not considered to be materially different from the present value of minimum lease payments. The fair value of the group’s 
lease obligations approximates their carrying amount. 

It is the group’s policy to lease certain of its fixtures and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is five years. For the year ended 31 December 2007 
the average effective borrowing rate was 6.1%, with interest rates being fixed at the contract date. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements 
have been entered into for contingent rental payments. All leases have expired as at 31 December 2009 and therefore no obligations remain.
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24. tRade and otheR payaBles
        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000 
         (restated) (restated)

Trade creditors and accruals       5,435 6,031 6,728

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit taken for trade purchases 
is 28 days (2008: 35 days).

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

25. otheR financial liaBilities
Other financial liabilities consist of a sterling loan of £441,000 (2008: £651,000).

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year        224  210 198
In the second year        217  224 210
In the third to fifth years inclusive        —  217 441

         441 651 849
Less: amount due for settlement within twelve months (shown under current liabilities)    (224) (210) (198)

Amount due for settlement after twelve months       217 441 651

The amounts included above are not considered to be materially different from the present value of the loan repayments.

This loan was arranged at a fixed interest rate and exposes the group to fair value interest rate risk. The directors estimate that the fair value of the group’s 
borrowings is not materially different from the amounts disclosed above.

The loan was taken out on 29 December 2006. Repayments commenced on 8 January 2007 and will continue until 30 November 2011, with repayments 
being made in 60 equal monthly instalments. The loan is secured by a charge over certain of the group’s capital equipment. The loan carries fixed interest 
rate at 6.2% per annum.

The group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 2009 of £1.5m (2008: £2.0m) in respect of which all conditions precedent had been 
met. The facility may be reviewed from time to time, and the bank reserves the right to withdraw the facility at any time by providing written demand for repayment.

liquidity Risk
The group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation by its operations, and applying cash collection targets throughout the group. 
Investment is carefully controlled, with authorisation limits operating up to group board level and cash payback periods applied as part of the investment 
appraisal process. In this way the group aims to maintain a good credit rating to facilitate fund raising.

In its funding strategy, the group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of overdrafts, bank loans, 
finance leases and hire purchase contracts. The group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by continuously 
monitoring cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The group is inherently a net generator of cash at the operating level. Excess cash used in managing liquidity is only invested in financial instruments exposed 
to insignificant risk of changes in market value, being placed on interest-bearing deposit with maturities no more than three months. Short term flexibility is 
achieved by overdraft facilities.
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26. pRovisions
         Closure of  
         Swedish   
       Warranty  Restructuring manufacturing  
       provision  provision facility Total 
       £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007      209 — — 209
Additional provision in the year      100 — — 100
Utilisation of provision      (116) — — (116)

At 1 January 2008      193 — — 193
Additional provision in the year      214 595 — 809
Utilisation of provision       (130)  (344) —  (474)

At 1 January 2009      277 251 — 528
Additional provision in the year      359 — 1,941 2,300
Utilisation of provision       (169)  (251) —  (420)

At 31 December 2009      467 — 1,941 2,408

The warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the group’s liability under twelve month warranties granted on printheads, based on past 
experience of returns for defective products. 

The restructuring provision created in 2008 related to amounts payable in respect of staff redundancies during the year. The provision was fully utilised in 2009.

On 1 April 2009 the group announced the rationalisation of its manufacturing facilities which will involve the eventual closure of its plant in Stockholm, 
Sweden and the relocation of that manufacturing capability to the group’s manufacturing facility in Huntingdon, England. This process is expected to take 
up to two years to complete and is expected to result in a substantial reduction in the group’s cost base. A provision for costs associated with this closure 
programme has been made, and has been separately reported on the face of the income statement due to the size and nature of the amounts to allow 
shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods.

Management is currently actively seeking an alternative tenant for the manufacturing facility in Sweden to occupy the premises once operations have been 
fully transferred to the UK. Although there is a possibility that this search will not be successful and the residual term on the lease from cessation of operations 
to expiry date would therefore be onerous, management does not consider this to be a probable scenario at this time and so no provision has been made in 
the financial statements.

27. shaRe capital
        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Authorised:
70,000,000 ordinary shares of 10.0p each       7,000 7,000 7,000

Issued and fully paid:
63,506,078 (2008: 63,505,633) ordinary shares of 10.0p each       6,351 6,350 6,285

The movement during the year on the company’s issued and fully paid shares was as follows:

      2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 
     Number  Number  Number £’000  £’000 £’000

At beginning of year     63,505,633 62,854,664 62,011,567 6,350 6,285 6,201
Exercise of share options     445 650,969 843,097 1 65 84

At end of year     63,506,078 63,505,633 62,854,664 6,351 6,350 6,285

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.
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27. shaRe capital continued
Options have been granted under separate share option schemes to subscribe for ordinary shares of the company as follows:

       Number of Number of Number of  
        shares under shares under shares under Subscription 
       option option option price per 
Scheme     Date of grant 2009 2008 2007 share

Xaar plc 1997 Share Option Scheme      20.10.99 — 10,000 20,000 115.0p
      18.04.00 — — 50,000 279.0p
       16.02.01 5,000 10,000 10,000 160.0p
      21.05.02 — — 250,000 71.5p
       12.06.02 100,000 100,000 100,000 68.5p
       19.11.02 40,000 40,000 40,000 25.0p
       06.10.03 200,000 200,000 400,000 36.0p

        345,000 360,000 870,000 

Xaar plc 2004 Share Option Plan      20.05.04 205,000 230,000 335,000 84.0p
       28.10.04 210,000 210,000 290,000 109.0p
      15.03.05 119,791 119,791 119,791 192.0p
       13.04.05 52,962 82,962 82,962 208.5p
       15.09.05 143,394 447,116 538,356 274.0p
       03.04.06 11,606 240,028 248,788 293.75p
       09.10.06 340,000 445,000 515,000 169.0p
      19.02.07 25,000 25,000 25,000 237.0p
      17.04.07 40,000 40,000 45,000 242.0p
      23.10.07 190,000 260,000 280,000 202.0p
      21.08.08 231,000 282,000 — 108.25p
      05.09.08 10,000 10,000 — 110.75p
      01.04.09 237,500 — — 56.0p
      29.09.09 30,000 — — 94.5p

        1,846,253 2,391,897 2,479,897 

Xaar plc Share Save Scheme     01.11.04 — — 11,711 99.0p
       01.08.07 4,945 68,050 136,847 191.0p
      01.06.09 431,359 — — 46.28p

       436,304 68,050 148,558 

Options granted outside the 1997, 2004 and Share Save Schemes   15.03.05 130,209 130,209 130,209 192.0p

Total share options outstanding at 31 December     2,757,766 2,590,156 3,628,664 

Options under the Xaar plc 1997 Share Option Scheme are exercisable within three to seven years after the date of the grant, except that approved options 
and unapproved options granted after 27 March 2001 are exercisable within three to ten years after the date of the grant. Options granted under the Xaar plc 
2004 Share Option Plan are exercisable within three to ten years after the date of the grant. The maximum value of approved options, under the Xaar plc 
1997 Share Option Scheme and the Xaar plc 2004 Share Option Plan, which may be granted to individual employees is £30,000. Options granted outside 
the 1997, 2004 and Share Save Schemes are exercisable within three to ten years after the date of grant.

Options under the Xaar plc Share Save Scheme are exercisable between 36 and 42 months after the date of the grant.
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27. shaRe capital continued
Performance share awards have been made under the Xaar plc 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan as follows:

          Number 
Date of grant         of shares

10.05.07         188,777
26.09.07         55,000
21.08.08         544,569
01.04.09         1,200,890

          1,989,236

All awards under this scheme have a fixed term of three years.

28. shaRe pRemium account
          £’000 

Balance at 1 January 2007         9,669
Premium arising on issue of equity shares         477

Balance at 1 January 2008         10,146
Premium arising on issue of equity shares         379

Balance at 1 January 2009         10,525
Premium arising on issue of equity shares         —

Balance at 31 December 2009         10,525

29. own shaRes
           £’000

Balance at 1 January 2007         (3,420)
Acquired in the year         (1,045)

Balance at 1 January 2008          (4,465)
Acquired in the year         —

Balance at 1 January 2009          (4,465)
Acquired in the year         —

Balance at 31 December 2009          (4,465)

Of this balance, £20,000 (2008: £20,000) represents 91,250 ordinary shares in Xaar plc held in trust by Xaar Trustee Ltd. Xaar Trustee Ltd was formed in 1995 
to act as trustee to the Employee Benefit Trust established in 1995 to hold shares for the benefit of the employees of the company and the group. There has 
been no movement in the number of shares held in trust by Xaar Trustee Ltd during the year.

The remaining balance of £4,445,000 (2008: £4,445,000) represents the cost of 1,617,004 (2008: 1,617,004) shares in Xaar plc purchased in the market 
at market value and held by the Xaar plc ESOP trust to satisfy options granted under the company’s share option schemes.

The market value of own shares at 31 December 2009 was £1,302,000 (2008: £756,000).
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30. hedging and tRanslation ReseRves   
        Hedging Translation  
        reserve reserve Total 
       Note £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 January 2007       — 593 593
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations      —  (64)  (64)
Prior year adjustment      4 — 406 406

Balance at 1 January 2008 (restated)       — 935 935
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives       452 — 452
Deferred tax asset recognised        (127) —  (127)
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations      —  (260)  (260)
Prior year adjustment      4 — 335 335

Balance at 31 December 2008 (restated)       325 1,010 1,335
Increase in fair value of hedging derivatives        (349)  —  (349)
Tax on items taken directly to equity        98  —   98 
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations      —  (180)  (180)

Balance at 31 December 2009        74  830 904

The hedging reserve at the balance sheet date represents the market value of the group’s foreign currency hedges at that date. The translation reserve 
represents the foreign exchange difference arising on the translation of subsidiary company results prepared in a currency other than sterling.

31. Retained eaRnings and otheR ReseRves
      Share-based 
     Merger payments Other Total other Retained  
     reserve reserve reserves  reserves  earnings Total 
    Note £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 January 2007    1,105 1,507 485 3,097 17,058 20,155
Net profit for the year    — — — — 5,401 5,401
Dividends paid    — — — — (1,218) (1,218)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity    — — — — (691) (691)
Movement in valuation of share options    — 954 — 954 — 954

Balance at 1 January 2008    1,105 2,461 485 4,051 20,550 24,601
Net profit for the year     —   —   —  —  3,431  3,431
Dividends paid   12  —   —   —  —  (2,148) (2,148)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity     —   —   —  —  (319) (319)
Movement in valuation of share options     —   (132)  —  (132)  —  (132)

Balance at 1 January 2009    1,105 2,329 485 3,919 21,514 25,433
Net profit for the year    — — — — 399 399
Dividends paid   12 — — — — (1,545) (1,545)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity    — — — — 401 401
Movement in valuation of share options    — (779) — (779) — (779)

Balance at 31 December 2009    1,105 1,550 485 3,140 20,769 23,909

The merger reserve and other reserves are not distributable. The merger reserve represents the share premium account in Xaar Technology Limited. 
The share-based payment reserve represents the cumulative charge made under IFRS 2 in relation to share options and LTIP awards. Other reserves 
represent the non-distributable portion of the dividend received in Xaar plc from Xaar Digital Limited.
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32. notes to the cash flow statement
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax        (186) 4,352
Adjustments for:         
Share-based payments        (779)  (132)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment        3,035 3,010
Amortisation of intangible assets        1,727 1,351
Impairment loss on trade investments        639 120
Investment income        —  (450)
Finance costs        —  57
Movements on cash flow hedge valuations        (47) —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment        18 —
Increase in provisions         1,880 335

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital       6,287 8,643
Decrease/(increase) in inventories        1,389  (2,769)
Decrease in receivables        236 609
Decrease in payables        (516)  (1,206)

Cash generated by operations        7,396 5,277
Income taxes paid         (417)  (1,049)

Net cash from operating activities        6,979 4,228

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of asset on the face of the balance sheet) comprise cash at bank and other short term 
highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

33. opeRating lease aRRangements
        2009 2008 2007 
        £’000 £’000 £’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised in income for the year:      
– fixtures, fittings and equipment       31 112 (154)
– land and buildings       1,401 1,336 1,315

         1,432 1,448 1,469

At the balance sheet date, the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall 
due as follows:

 Fixtures, fittings   Land and 
 and equipment  buildings

     2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 
     £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000

Within one year    31 91 111 994 986 1,315
In the second to fifth years inclusive    35 61 65 2,320 2,451 2,790
After five years    — — — 1,440 1,922 2,535

      66 152 176 4,754 5,359 6,640

The operating leases in respect of fixtures, fittings and equipment extend over a period of up to three years.
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34. shaRe-Based payments
equity-settled shaRe option scheme
The company’s share option schemes are open to all employees of the group. Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market 
price of the company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is three years. The vesting criteria of these options are disclosed in the directors’ 
remuneration report on pages 28 to 32. If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, or 42 months in the case 
of the Share Save Scheme, the options expire. Save as permitted in the share option scheme rules options lapse on an employee leaving the group.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

 2009  2008  2007

      Weighted   Weighted  Weighted 
      average  average  average 
     Number exercise Number exercise Number exercise 
     of share price  of share price of share price 
     options £ options  £ options £

Outstanding at beginning of year    2,950,156 1.72 3,628,664 1.63 4,077,822 1.39
Granted during the year    778,671 0.52 301,000 1.08 501,847 2.04
Lapsed during the year    (548,472) 1.72  (328,539) 2.23 (107,908) 1.87
Surrendered during the year    (422,144) 2.84 — — — —
Exercised during the year    (445) 0.46  (650,969) 0.68 (843,097) 0.67

Outstanding at the end of the year    2,757,766 1.21 2,950,156 1.72 3,628,664 1.63

Exercisable at the end of the year    760,000 0.74 1,580,078 1.57 1,506,711 0.79

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was £0.83 (2008: £1.35). The options outstanding 
at 31 December 2009 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of six years (2008: seven years). In 2009, options were granted on 1 April, 1 June 
and 29 September. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates is £0.2m. In 2008, options were granted on 21 August 
and 5 September. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on those dates is £0.2m.

The performance conditions relating to the above share options are given on pages 28 to 30.

The inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

        2009 2008 2007

Weighted average share price       £0.60 £1.08 £2.18
Weighted average exercise price       £0.60 £1.08 £2.04
Expected volatility       58% 50% 47%
Expected life       7 years 6.5 years 5.6 years
Risk free rate       4.75% 4.80% 4.8%
Expected dividends       1.05% 2.30% 0.6%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over periods ranging from the previous one to three years. 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations.

long teRm incentive plan
The company’s Long Term Incentive Plan is open to all employees of the group. Vesting of performance share awards made under this scheme is conditional 
upon the achievement of two separate performance conditions. Full details of the performance conditions are shown on page 31. All awards made under this 
scheme have a fixed term of three years. Save as permitted in the Long Term Incentive Plan rules, awards lapse on an employee leaving the group.

Details of performance share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

        2009 2008 2007

Awards outstanding at start of year       857,491 320,777 —
Granted during the year       1,200,890 593,714 320,777
Lapsed during the year       (69,145)  (57,000) —

Awards outstanding at end of year       1,989,236 857,491 320,777

In 2009, performance share awards were made on 1 April 2009. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of grants made on those dates is £0.5m. In 2008, 
performance share awards were made on 21 August. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of grants made on those dates is £0.4m.
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34. shaRe-Based payments continued
long teRm incentive plan continued
The estimated fair values were calculated using a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binomial) model. The inputs to the model were as follows:

        2009 2008 2007

Weighted average exercise price       £nil £nil £nil
Expected volatility       63.40% 58.60% 46.8%
Expected life       3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield       4.35% 2.70% 0.8%

At the year end, the group has assessed the likelihood that the performance conditions required in order for each option or award to vest will be met. 
Taking into account the current earnings per share of the company and the company’s budgeted results over the coming years, in management’s opinion 
it is unlikely that all vesting criteria will be met for all options and awards.

For this reason, the costs previously recognised as an expense in the income statement in prior years relating to these options and awards have been 
reversed in full in the current year. Therefore, the group recognised total income of £0.8m (2008: income of £0.1m) related to share-based payment 
transactions in the year.

35. RetiRement Benefit schemes
defined contRiBution schemes
The UK based employees of the group’s UK companies have the option to be members of a defined contribution pension scheme managed by a third 
party pension provider. For each employee who is a member of the scheme the company will contribute a fixed percentage of each employee’s salary 
to the scheme. The only obligation of the group with respect to this scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The employees of the group’s subsidiaries in Sweden are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of Sweden. 
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation 
of the group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to the income statement in respect of these schemes during 2009 was £690,000 (2008: £775,000). As at 31 December 2009 
contributions of £48,000 (2008: £44,000) due in respect of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the schemes.

36. Related paRty tRansactions
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

There were no transactions during the year with related parties who are not members of the group.

RemuneRation of key management peRsonnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the group, is set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified 
in IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the audited part of the directors’ 
remuneration report on page 30.

         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Short term employee benefits        886 1,149
Post-employment benefits        45 45
Share-based payments        (33)  (30)

          898 1,164
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     2009 2008 
    Note £’000  £’000

Fixed assets     
Investments in subsidiaries    3 12,445 12,445
Trade investments   3 1,261 1,900

       13,706 14,345

Current assets     
Debtors – due within one year    4 53,999 46,892
Debtors – due after one year    4 97 9
Cash at bank and in hand      6,470 8,300

       60,566 55,201

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year   5 (31,729)  (25,725)
Provisions   6 —  (81)

     (31,729)  (25,806)

Net current assets    28,837 29,395

Total assets less current liabilities    42,543 43,740
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year   5 (217)  (441)

Net assets      42,326 43,299

Capital and reserves     
Called-up share capital    7 6,351 6,350
Share premium account    7 10,525 10,525
Other reserves    7 25,333 25,333
Own shares   7 (4,445)  (4,445)
Share-based payment reserve   7 524 1,727
Profit and loss account   7 4,038 3,809

Equity shareholders’ funds    9 42,326 43,299

The financial statements of Xaar plc, registered number 3220972, were approved by the board of directors on 1 April 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

ian dinwoodie  andRew tayloR
diRectoR  diRectoR
1 april 2010

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.

company Balance sheet (uk gaap) as at 31 December 2009
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notes to the (uk gaap) company Balance sheet for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

1. significant accounting policies
Basis of accounting 
The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. They have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention and in accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and law.

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption of Financial Reporting Standard No. 8 “Related party disclosures” not to show transactions with 
companies in the group headed by Xaar plc.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in paragraph 2D of FRS 29 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure” and not disclosed information required 
by that standard as the group’s consolidated financial statements, in which the company is included, provide equivalent disclosures for the group under 
IFRS 7 “Financial Disclosures”.

own shaRes
Own shares are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the company’s 
own shares.

shaRe-Based payments
The company has applied the requirements of FRS 20 “Share-based Payment”. In accordance with the transitional provisions, FRS 20 has been applied 
to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested at 1 January 2005.

The company issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain employees. These payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect 
of non market-based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the company’s estimate of the shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the 
effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

The fair value of options issued under the company’s Long Term Incentive Plan is measured using a stochastic (Monte-Carlo binominal) model. The fair value 
of all other equity-settled share-based payments is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. 

taXation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Deferred taxation is provided in full on timing differences that result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to pay less tax, 
at a future date, at rates expected to apply when the timing differences crystallise based on current tax rates and law. Timing differences arise from the 
inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are included in financial statements. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

investments 
Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost less provision for impairment. 

For investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration, including the issue of shares qualifying for merger relief, cost is measured by reference 
to the nominal value only of the shares issued. Any premium is ignored.

2. pRofit foR the yeaR
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account for the year. Xaar plc 
reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 of £1,349,000 (2008: profit of £624,000).

The average number of employees throughout 2009 was 16 (2008: 21). Staff costs amounted to £0.9m (2008: £1.3m). Information about the remuneration 
of directors is provided in the audited part of the directors’ remuneration report on page 30 of the consolidated financial statements.

The audit fee for the company in 2009 was £17,000 (2008: £17,000). 
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notes to the (uk gaap) company Balance sheet continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009

3. fiXed asset investments
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Subsidiary undertakings         
At beginning and end of the year         12,445 12,445

Trade investments         
At beginning of year        1,900 2,020
Impairment loss recognised in the year         (639)  (120)

At end of year         1,261 1,900

4. deBtoRs
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Amounts receivable within one year         
Amounts owed by group undertakings         53,873 46,859
Other debtors        91 —
Prepayments and accrued income         30 28
VAT         5 5

          53,999 46,892
Amounts receivable after more than one year        
Deferred tax asset        97 9

          54,096 46,901

5. cReditoRs
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Amounts falling due within one year         
Amounts owed to group undertakings         31,187 25,152
Trade creditors         31 27
Accruals        215 199
Corporation tax creditor        72 137
Financial liabilities        224 210

          31,729 25,725
Amounts falling due after more than one year        
Financial liabilities        217 441

          31,946 26,166

For additional disclosures relating to financial liabilities, see Note 25 in the consolidated financial statements.
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6. pRovisions
          
          
          Restructuring 
          provision 
           £’000

At 1 January 2009         81 
Utilisation of provision          (81)

At 31 December 2009         — 

The restructuring provision created in 2008 relates to amounts payable in respect of staff redundancies during the year.

7. capital and ReseRves
    Called-up Share       
    share  premium  Other  Own Share-based Profit and  
    capital account reserves shares payments loss account Total 
   Note £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

At 1 January 2008    6,285   10,146   25,333   (4,445)  1,748   5,235  44,302
New shares issued     65   379   —  —  —  — 444
Dividends paid  8  —  —   —   —   —   (2,148) (2,148)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity   — — — — — 98 98
Profit for the financial year     —   —   —   —   —   624 624
Share-based payments    —   —  —   —   (21)  —  (21)

At 1 January 2009    6,350   10,525   25,333   (4,445)  1,727   3,809  43,299
New shares issued    1  — — — — — 1
Dividends paid  8 — — — — — (1,545) (1,545)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity   — — — — — 425 425
Profit for the financial year    — — — — — 1,349 1,349
Share-based payments   —  — — — (1,203) — (1,203)

At 31 December 2009   6,351 10,525   25,333  (4,445)  524  4,038 42,326 

Full details of movements in share capital and the share option schemes are given in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. The share premium 
account and other reserves are non-distributable.

8. dividends
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:       
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2008 of 1.5p (2007: 2.5p) per share     927 1,530
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of 1.0p (2008: 1.0) per share     618 618

Total distributions to equity holders in the period        1,545 2,148

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 of 1.5p (2008: 1.5p) per share    953 953

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.
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9. Reconciliation of movements in shaReholdeRs’ funds
         2009 2008 
         £’000 £’000

Profit for the financial year        1,349 624
Share-based payments        (1,203)  (21)
Deferred tax asset taken directly to equity        425  98 
Dividends paid        (1,545)  (2,148)
New shares issued        1 444

Net reduction in shareholders’ funds        (973)  (1,003)
Opening shareholders’ funds        43,299 44,302

Closing shareholders’ funds        42,326 43,299

10. shaRe-Based payments
equity-settled shaRe option scheme
The company’s share option schemes are open to all employees of the company. Options are exercisable at a price equal to the average quoted market 
price of the company’s shares on the date of grant. The vesting period is three years. The vesting criteria of these options are disclosed in the directors’ 
remuneration report in the consolidated financial statements on pages 28 to 32. If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date 
of grant, or 42 months in the case of the Share Save Scheme, the options expire. Save as permitted in the share option scheme rules, options lapse on an 
employee leaving the company.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

 2009  2008

        Weighted  Weighted 
        average  average 
       Number exercise Number exercise 
       of share price  of share price 
       options (£) options  (£)

Outstanding at beginning of year      988,364 1.42 1,675,987 1.28
Granted during the year      115,657 0.62 33,000 1.08
Lapsed during the year      (180,364) 1.63  (116,376) 2.63
Surrended during the year      (250,000) 2.83 — —
Exercised during the year      — — (604,247) 0.65

Outstanding at the end of the year      673,657 0.71 988,364 1.42

Exercisable at the end of the year      530,000 0.65 705,493 1.13

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during 2008 was £1.32. No options were exercised in 2009. The options 
outstanding at 31 December 2009 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of one year (2008: six years). In 2009, options were granted on 1 April, 
1 June and 29 September. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on these dates is £34,000. In 2008, options were granted on 
21 August. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of the options granted on that date is £19,000.

The performance conditions relating to the above share options are given on pages 28 to 32 of the directors’ remuneration report and the exercise prices 
of options outstanding at the year end are given in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

notes to the (uk gaap) company Balance sheet continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009
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10. shaRe-Based payments continued
equity-settled shaRe option scheme continued
The inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

         2009 2008

Weighted average share price        £0.67 £1.08
Weighted average exercise price        £0.62 £1.08
Expected volatility        59% 50%
Expected life        5.15 years 6.5 years
Risk free rate        4.8% 4.8%
Expected dividends        0.6% 2.3%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the company’s share price over periods ranging from the previous one to three years. 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
and behavioural considerations.

long teRm incentive plan
The company’s Long Term Incentive Plan is open to all employees of the company. Vesting of performance share awards made under this scheme is 
conditional upon the achievement of two separate performance conditions. Full details of the performance conditions are shown on page 31 of the group 
financial statements. All awards made under this scheme have a fixed term of three years. Save as permitted in the LTIP rules, awards lapse on an employee 
leaving the company.

Details of performance share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:

         2009 2008

Awards outstanding at start of year        390,139 164,277
Granted during the year        499,999 282,862
Lapsed during the year        (69,145)  (57,000)

Awards outstanding at end of year        820,993 390,139

In 2009, performance share awards were made on 1 April 2009. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of grants made on that date is £0.2m. In 2008, 
performance share awards were made on 21 April. The aggregate of the estimated fair values of grants made on that date is £0.4m.

         2009 2008

Weighted average exercise price        £nil £nil
Expected volatility        63.4% 58.6%
Expected life         3 years 3 years
Expected dividend yield        4.4% 2.7%

The company recognised total income of £1.2m (2008: expense of £0.02m) related to share-based payment transactions in the year.
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11. suBsidiaRy undeRtakings
The following entities are wholly-owned subsidiary undertakings of the company:

    Proportion of ordinary share  
    capital held by the company 
Name and country of incorporation Principal activity Issued and fully paid up share capital %

Xaar Technology Limited    
England Research and development 4,445,322 ordinary £1 shares 100

XaarJet Limited  Manufacturing, research and   
England development and sales and marketing 2 ordinary £1 shares 100

XaarJet (Overseas) Limited   
England Sales and marketing 1 ordinary £1 share 100

Xaar Trustee Limited1   
England Trustee 2 ordinary £1 shares 100

Xaar Digital Limited   
England Treasury 1 ordinary £1 share 100

Xaar Group AB   
Sweden Holding company 1,137,000 ordinary shares of SEK 100 each 100

XaarJet AB2   
Sweden Manufacturing 1,000 ordinary shares of SEK 100 each 100

Xaar Americas Inc.   
USA Sales and marketing 10,000 shares of common stock US$1 each 100
1 Xaar Trustee Limited shares are held by Xaar Technology Limited.

2 XaarJet AB shares are held by Xaar Group AB.

notes to the (uk gaap) company Balance sheet continued for the year enDeD 31 December 2009
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five yeaR RecoRd

  2009  2008  2007  2006 2005 
  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 
   (restated) (restated) 

Summarised consolidated results     
Results     
Turnover      42,073 42,017 47,853 42,207 42,772
Gross profit      17,251 20,628 24,928 24,111 26,649
Operating (loss)/profit      (267) 3,959 6,993 6,577 10,479
Abortive deal costs     — — — (298) —
Foreign exchange loss on inter-company loan      — — — — (977)
Net interest      81 393 328 335 513
Taxation      585 (921) (1,920) (2,068) (2,966)
Dividends      (1,545) (2,148) (1,218) (903) (604)
Basic earnings per share      0.6p 5.6p 8.6p 7.9p 11.6p
Assets employed     
Property, plant and equipment      14,513 12,667 11,849 11,990 6,436
Cash and cash equivalents      11,521 11,601 13,036 12,438 14,395
Net current assets      16,404 19,703 17,758 12,966 13,693
Financed by     
Shareholders’ funds: all equity      37,224 39,178 37,502 33,253 27,553
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notice of annual geneRal meeting

Notice is hereby given that the thirteenth Annual General Meeting of Xaar plc (the “company”) will be held at Mercure Brandon Hall Hotel, Main Street, Brandon, 
Warwickshire CV8 3FW on 19 May 2010 at 9.30am for the following purposes:

oRdinaRy Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions which will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions:

1.  To receive the company’s annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2009, together with the directors’ report, the directors’ 
remuneration report, the independent auditor’s report on the auditable part of the directors’ remuneration report and the independent auditor’s report 
on those financial statements.

2.  To reappoint Deloitte LLP as auditor to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until the conclusion of the next general meeting of the company 
at which financial statements are laid and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

3.  To declare a final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2009 of 1.5p per ordinary share.

4.  To reappoint as a director in accordance with the company’s Articles of Association Ian Dinwoodie, who is retiring by rotation.

5.  To reappoint as a director in accordance with the company’s Articles of Association Greg Lockett, who is retiring by rotation.

6.  To reappoint Robin Williams as a director who offers himself for reappointment at the first Annual General Meeting after his appointment to the board. 

special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolutions which will be proposed in the case of Resolutions 7 and 9 as Ordinary Resolutions and in the 
case of Resolutions 8 and 10 as Special Resolutions:

7.  To approve the directors’ remuneration report in accordance with section 439 of the Companies Act 2006. 

8.  That the company be generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the Companies Act to make one or more market 
purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the Companies Act 2006) of ordinary shares of 10p in the capital of the company (ordinary shares) 
provided that:

 • the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares authorised to be purchased is 9,462,406 (representing 14.9% of the issued ordinary share capital);

 • the minimum price which may be paid for an ordinary share is the par value of the shares;

 •  the maximum price which may be paid for an ordinary share is an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market quotations for an ordinary 
share as derived from The London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the day on which that ordinary 
share is purchased;

 •  this authority expires at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the company or within 15 months from the date of the passing of this 
Resolution whichever is earlier; and

 •  the company may make a contract to purchase ordinary shares under this authority before the expiry of the authority which will or may be executed 
wholly or partly after the expiry of the authority, and may make a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of any such contract.

9.  That, in substitution for all existing authorities, including the authority conferred on the directors by Article 4 (B) of the company’s Articles of Association, 
in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) the directors be and they are generally and unconditionally authorised to exercise 
all powers of the company to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the Act): 

 (a) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £635,061; and 

 (b)  up to an aggregate nominal amount of £635,061 in connection with a rights issue (as defined in the Listing Rules issued by the Financial Services 
Authority pursuant to Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000), to holders of equity securities, in proportion to their respective entitlements 
to such equity securities, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to 
treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any 
regulatory body or stock exchange,

  provided that this authority shall expire on the conclusion of the company’s Annual General Meeting in 2011 save that the company may before such 
expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot such equity 
securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this resolution had not expired.
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special Business continued
10.  Subject to the passing of Resolution 9 above of the notice of meeting of which this resolution forms part, that, in substitution for all existing authorities, 

including the authority conferred on the directors by Article 4 (c) of the company’s Articles of Association, the directors be and they are empowered 
pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 560 of the Act): 

 (a)  pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 9(a) of the notice of meeting of which this resolution forms part, as if section 561 of the Act did not 
apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to: 

   (i)  the allotment of equity securities for cash in connection with any rights issue or other issue or offer by way of rights (including, without limitation, 
under an open offer or similar arrangement) to holders of equity securities, in proportion to their respective entitlements to such equity securities, 
but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional 
entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any territory or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock 
exchange; and  

   (ii) the allotment of equity securities (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above) up to an aggregate nominal value of £317,530; and

 (b)  pursuant to authority conferred by Resolution 9(b) of the notice of which this resolution forms part, as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such 
allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue (as defined in the Listing Rules 
issued by the Financial Services Authority pursuant to Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) to holders of equity securities, in proportion to 
their respective entitlements to such equity securities, but subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or 
expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems in or under the laws of any territory or the 
requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange,

  provided that this power shall expire on the conclusion of the company’s Annual General Meeting in 2011 save that the company may before such expiry 
make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the board may allot equity securities in 
pursuance of such an offer or agreement as of the power conferred by this resolution had not expired.

11. That the company’s Articles of Association be amended by deleting Article 3 of the company’s Articles of Association.

By order of the board

andRew tayloR 
company secRetaRy
16 March 2010

notes
1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is also entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and, on a show of hands or on a poll, vote 

instead of him. Where more than one proxy is appointed, each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held 
by the appointing shareholder. The proxy need not be a member of the company.

2.  To be effective, the instrument appointing a proxy and any authority under which it is executed (or a notarially certified copy of such authority) must be 
deposited at the office of the company’s registrars not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting. A form of proxy 
is enclosed with this notice. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude ordinary shareholders from attending and voting in person. 

3.  Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information rights 
(a “Nominated Person”) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed 
(or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right or does 
not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights.

4.  The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in paragraphs 1 and 2 above does not apply to Nominated Persons. 
The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the company.

5.  In accordance with Regulation 41 of the Uncertified Securities Regulations 2001, the company specifies that only those members entered on the register 
of members of the company as at 9.30am on 17 May 2010 (or in the event the meeting is adjourned, on the register of members 48 hours before the 
time of any adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend or vote at the meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. 
Changes to entries on the register of members after 9.30am on 17 May 2010 (or in the event the meeting is adjourned, on the register of members less 
than 48 hours before the time of any adjourned meeting) shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.
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notice of annual geneRal meeting continued

notes continued
6.  Copies of directors’ service agreements, the terms of appointment of non-executive directors, the register of directors’ interests kept by the company 

under section 808 of the Companies Act 2006, the Xaar plc 2004 Share Option Plan, the Xaar plc 2007 Share Save Plan and the Xaar plc 2007 Long Term 
Incentive Plan will be available 15 minutes prior to the commencement of the meeting and will remain open and accessible during the continuance of the 
meeting to any person attending the meeting.

7.  Biographical details of all directors offering themselves for reappointment are set out on pages 16 and 17.

8.  Shareholders should note that it is possible that, pursuant to requests made by shareholders of the company under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, 
the company may be required to publish on a website a statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit of the company’s accounts (including the 
auditor’s report and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the Annual General Meeting; or (ii) any circumstance connected with an auditor of 
the company ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section 437 of the 
Companies Act 2006. The company may not require the shareholders requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses in complying with 
sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Act 2006. Where the company is required to place a statement on a website under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, 
it must forward the statement to the company’s auditor not later than the time when it makes the statement available on the website. The business which 
may be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting includes any statement that the company has been required under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 
to publish on a website.

9.  In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the meeting so that: (i) if a corporate shareholder 
has appointed the chairman of the meeting as its corporate representative to vote on a poll in accordance with the directions of all of the other corporate 
representatives for that shareholder at the meeting, then on a poll those corporate representatives will give voting directions to the chairman and the 
chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance with those directions; and (ii) if more than one corporate representative 
for the same corporate shareholder attends the meeting but the corporate shareholder has not appointed the chairman of the meeting as its corporate 
representative, a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those corporate representatives who attend, who will vote on a poll and 
the other corporate representatives will give voting directions to that designated corporate representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to in the 
guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives (www.icsa.org.uk) for further details 
of this procedure. The guidance includes a sample form of appointment letter if the chairman is being appointed as described in (i) above.

10.  CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures 
described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed 
a service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

11.  In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) 
must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications, and must contain the information required for such instruction, as described 
in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to a 
previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID RA10) by 9.30am on 17 May 2010. For this 
purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from 
which the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions 
to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

12.  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors, or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not make available special 
procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. 
It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member, or sponsored member, or has 
appointed a voting service provider, to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure 
that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their 
CREST sponsors or voting system providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the 
CREST system and timings.

13.  The company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

14.  As at 7.00am on 17 March 2010 (the date of publication of this Notice), the company’s issued share capital comprised 63,506,078 Ordinary shares of 10p 
each. Each Ordinary share carries the right to one vote at a general meeting of the company and, therefore, the total number of voting rights in the company 
as 7.00am on 17 March 2010 is 63,506,078.

15.  Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask questions. The company must answer any such question relating to the business being dealt with 
at the meeting but no such answer need be given if: (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of 
confidential information; (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or (c) it is undesirable in the interests 
of the company or the good order of the meeting that the question be answered.

16. A copy of this Notice, and other information required by section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, can be found at www.xaar.com.
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corporAte stAtement

Xaar plc is the world-leading independent supplier of industrial 
inkjet printheads.

The economic turmoil of the last twelve months 
has presented Xaar with challenging trading 
conditions. Through restructuring and cost-saving 
measures we have been able to strengthen 
our business and position ourselves to take 
advantage of the market upturn.

our pAst yeAr – some exAmples…

Xaar launches two next generation 
printheads to set new standards in 
wide and grand-format inkjet printing.

11 March 2009
Xaar, a world leader in the development 
and manufacture of drop-on-demand 
inkjet technologies, has launched two 
new printheads which bring significant 
performance benefits to the wide and 
grand-format inkjet print markets. The new 
entry-level, high-speed Xaar Electron and 
the premium high-productivity, wide-swathe 
Xaar Proton are next-generation Platform 1 
binary printheads.

Xaar has worked closely with several leading 
printer manufacturers in order to coincide the 
global launch of the new printheads with the 
commercial launch of next generation wide-format 
printers incorporating the technology. In a 
significant endorsement of the productivity 
of the new printheads, Witcolor, Hijet, Chiting 
Digital Technology and RTZ are launching 
five Xaar Electron-based models and twelve 
Xaar Proton-based solvent and UV inkjet 
models at Sign China.

Xaar expands range of Ceramic 
Inks through new Esmalglass-Itaca 
partnership.

8 April 2009
Esmalglass-Itaca Group has been added to 
Xaar’s list of Approved Ink Partners for the 
ceramic inks market. 

Esmalglass-Itaca is internationally recognised 
as a pioneer in the areas of ceramic pigments, 
glazes, frits and additives. They have a reputation 
for unmatched collaboration with each and 
every one of its customers and superb know-how 
in the formulation of digital ceramic inks. This 
makes Esmalglass-Itaca the perfect partner for 
Xaar to increase the choice of digital inks available 
for end users in this growing market sector.
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